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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM") OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sun Kong
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief,
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERBESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Sun Kong
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Since the second half of 2019, serious major events, including
protracted US-China trade war, rising protectionism, social unrest
in Hong Kong and, more recently, the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") outbreak, have weighed on the economy and
restrained logistics activities. As the COVID-19 spreads over the
world and as unsolved US-China trade dispute, macroeconomic
environment remained complicated and the competitions
among industries became increasingly intense because of many
uncertainties in the external operating environment. We strived to
maintain a steady business scale and improve operational efficiency.
The management team of the Group is determined to maintain a
positive attitude during this tough period.

The Group has recorded a revenue of approximately HK$351.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$123.1 million or 26.0% as compared to the
Group's revenue of approximately HK$474.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019. Profit attributable to the owners of the
Company was approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2020, representing an increase of approximately HK$1.9
million from a loss of approximately HK$0.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBESE

The Group will stay extra alert and flexible in adapting to new
challenges and step by step implement its business strategies in
order to help the Group strengthen its position as an established
diesel oil provider in Hong Kong and create long-term shareholder’s
value. On behalf of the Board, | would like to offer my appreciation
and gratitude to our shareholders, business partners and customers
for their utmost support to the Group. We would also like to take
this opportunity to thank all management members and staff for
their hard work and dedication throughout the year.

Law Ming Yik
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE R K

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of diesel oil and related
products in Hong Kong. The services of the Group include sourcing
and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong
Kong. Most of the Group’s customers are logistic companies and
construction companies which require diesel oil to operate their
logistic fleets. In addition to the sale services as described above,
the Group also provides ancillary transportation service to one of
the four major international oil suppliers in Hong Kong (the “Qil
Major"”) whereby it helps the Oil Major transport the diesel to its
customers. The Group had eight diesel tank wagons of various
capacity as at 31 March 2020. The Group started to trade of steam
coal in September 2019.

The Group has recorded a revenue of approximately HK$351.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$123.1 million or 26.0%, as compared to the
Group's revenue of approximately HK$474.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in
the sale of diesel oil as a result of (1) the ongoing trade war between
China and the United States, (2) the political and social turmoil in
Hong Kong which resulted in the blockage of roads and highways
and difficulties in transportation and (3) the COVID-19 outbreak
which has caused severe disruption to manufacturing and logistic
activities between Hong Kong and the Mainland China.

The Group recorded a profit attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2020 representing an increase of approximately HK$1.9
million as compared with the year ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEAERE PR

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Global economic growth has markedly slowed down in 2019.
The ongoing trade disputes and unresolved negotiations between
China and the United States, political and social turmoil in Hong
Kong and, more recently, the COVID-19 outbreak have all weighed
on the economy and restrained logistics activities.

The Board believes the transportation and logistics industry will
be continuously affected by the adverse change in economic
conditions. As a result, the demand of diesel oil from logistic sector
to supply its logistic fleets would be affected. On the other hand,
the construction progress is temporarily affected by the COVID-19
outbreak. Given the widespread nature of the COVID-19 the
timing and extent of a recovery of the construction sector remains
uncertain.

Taking into consideration of the challenging market outlook, the
Group will reinforce cost control and continue to deploy more
resources on enhancing its service capabilities, expanding its
network presence and diversifying its customer base. The Group
will also proactively seek potential business development that
will broaden its sources of income and enhance value to the
shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE R K

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$123.1 million
or approximately 26.0% from approximately HK$474.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$351.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Revenue from the sales of diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid
accounted for approximately HK$348.3 million and HK$0.6
million respectively, representing approximately 99.2% and 0.2%
respectively, of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31
March 2020. For the year ended 31 March 2019, the revenue
from the sales of diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid accounted for
approximately HK$473.6 million and HK$0.6 million respectively,
representing approximately 99.9% and 0.1% respectively, of the
Group's total revenue. Sales of diesel oil remained the largest
contributor to the Group’s revenue.

The Group recorded an ancillary transportation service income
of approximately HK$0.2 million and HK$0.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively. The service was to
help the Oil Major to transport the diesel oil to its customers and
such service commenced from September 2018.

Since September 2019, the Group had started to trade in steam
coal. Revenue from sales of steam coal was approximately HK$2.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEAERE PR

Sales quantity

The sales quantity of diesel oil decreased by approximately 18.8%
from 99.8 million litres for the year ended 31 March 2019 to 81.0
million litres for the year ended 31 March 2020, which showed
less diesel oil was required from the logistics customers during the
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”) due to the
COVID-19 outbreak and impact of trade war between China and
the United States, as well as the political and social turmoil in Hong
Kong that resulted in the blockage of roads and highways, and
difficulties in transportation. The sales quantity of diesel exhaust
fluid increased by approximately 11.0% from 115 thousand litres
for the year ended 31 March 2019 to 127.7 thousand litres for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

Selling price

The average selling price of the Group’s diesel oil decreased by
approximately 9.5% from HK$4.75 per litre for the year ended 31
March 2019 to HK$4.30 per litre for the year ended 31 March 2020
whereas the average selling price of the Group’s diesel exhaust
fluid decreased by approximately 6.5% from HK$4.91 per litre for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$4.59 per litre for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The decrease of the average selling price of
the Group's diesel oil was in line with the decreasing trend in the
prevailing market prices.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily consists of costs of diesel oil, diesel exhaust
fluid and steam coal, direct labour costs and depreciation. The
purchase cost for diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid depends on the
domestic purchase price offered by the Group’s oil suppliers, with
reference to the price indices such as Europe Brent spot crude price.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE R K

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's cost of sales was
approximately HK$338.5 million, representing a decrease of 25.5%
from HK$454.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such
decrease was in line with the overall drop in revenue and average

unit selling price.

The largest component of the cost of sales was diesel oil cost,
which amounted to approximately HK$449.1 million and HK$330.6
million, representing approximately 98.8% and 97.7% of the cost
of sales for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, respectively.
The average unit purchase cost of diesel oil decreased by 9.3%
from approximately HK$4.50 per litre for the ended 31 March 2019
to approximately HK$4.08 per litre for the year ended 31 March
2020. The decrease in average unit purchase cost of diesel oil was
in line with the market trend for the year ended 31 March 2020.

For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, the diesel exhaust
fluid costs were approximately HK$0.4 million and HK$0.4 million
respectively, representing approximately 0.1% and 0.1% of the
cost of sales, respectively.

The direct labour costs comprise wages and benefits, including
wages, bonuses, retirement benefit costs and other allowances
and benefits payable to the diesel tank wagons drivers and logistics
assistants involved in the transportation of the products from the
oil depot to the customers. The direct labour costs amounted to
approximately HK$2.6 million and HK$2.2 million for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively. The Group had
ten full-time drivers responsible for the logistics support for the
Group's diesel tank wagons as at 31 March 2020.

Depreciation represented depreciation charges for the Group’s
equipments which consist mainly of diesel tank wagons. The
depreciation amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million and
HK$1.6 million for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020,
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEAERE PR

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group’s revenue less cost of sales.
The Group recorded a decrease in gross profit by approximately
HK$7.2 million or approximately 36.2% from approximately
HK$19.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$12.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The Group's gross profit margin decreased from 4.2% for the year
ended 31 March 2019 to 3.6% for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The decrease in gross profit is primarily due to decrease in sale of
diesel oil since the second half of 2019. The demand of diesel oil
demand was adversely affected by the COVID-19 outbreak and
political and social turmoil in Hong Kong. Since sale drops but the
operating costs, e.g. staff costs, depreciation as well as other cost
of sales remain fixed, the Company’s gross profit dropped as a
result. The Group will closely monitor the market demand and take
necessary actions to cut costs and arrest declining revenues and
margins.

Administrative and other operating expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses mainly include
administrative staff costs, professional service fees, entertainment,
rent and rate and others. The Group’s administrative and other
operating expenses increased by approximately HK$0.9 million
or 10.1% from approximately HK$8.9 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$9.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The increase is primarily due to post listing
professional service fees and increase in staff costs and director’
emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE R K

Income tax expenses

As all of the Group's profit are derived from Hong Kong and subject
to Hong Kong income tax. The Group's income tax decreased by
approximately HK$1.3 million or 82.4% for the year ended 31
March 2020.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s net profit increased
by approximately HK$1.9 million from a loss of approximately
HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to a profit of
approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2020
and the Group's net profit margin for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 are 0.48% and a negative of 0.04% respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and banking facilities. The Group recorded net
current assets of approximately HK$54.3 million as at 31 March
2020.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's current assets amounted to
approximately HK$58.5 million and the Group’s current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$4.2 million. Current ratio was
approximately 14.0 as at 31 March 2020. Current ratio is calculated
by current assets over current liabilities at the end of the year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has no interest-bearing borrowing
and bank overdraft. The maximum limit of the banking facilities
available to the Group amounted to approximately HK$5.0 million
of bank facilities and none of the banking facilities were utilized.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEAERE PR

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, being the ratio of bank loan to total equity, of the
Group as at 31 March 2020 was nil (2019: nil) due to the absence
of bank borrowings for the reporting period.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on
note 3 of the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that our risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to
mitigate the risks present in our operations and financial position as
efficiently and effectively as possible. The followings are the major
risks and uncertainties of our business:

e Qur earnings, cash flows and financial condition may be
adversely affected if the Group uses an incorrect oil and
gas price assumptions to evaluate projects and commercial
opportunities;

e Transportation service diesel oil can be disrupted if there is
reliance on one single oil supplier in Hong Kong;

e Loss of customers due to price competitions and global
economic slowdown; and

e Disruptions to operation due to difficulty in retaining
employees.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the the prospectus of the

Company dated 21 December 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

An analysis of the Group's financial risk management (including
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk) objectives and policies are
provided in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE R K

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISK

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is not exposed to any
foreign exchange risks throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the capital structure of the
Group consisted of equity attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$62.7 million. The share capital of
the Group only comprises ordinary shares. The Shares were listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 8 January 2019 (the “Listing
Date”). There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Group since then.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group
strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its
customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the
Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group's assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group did not have
any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEAERE PR

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had HK$1.8 million of capital
commitments in respect of the acquisition of property, and
equipment that have not been provided in the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the reporting period, the payment for capital expenditure
of the Group increased by approximately HK$2.8 million or 96.6%
as compared with last year to approximately HK$5.7 million (2019:
approximately HK$2.9 million), which was mainly related to the
payment for the purchase of diesel tank wagons.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Group does not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at 31 March 2020, save as disclosed in note 28 of the
consolidated financial statements, the Board is not aware of any
significant events requiring disclosure that have occurred.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE AR

COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS R RRETISEERETEENLLE

FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group's implementation LA T AHBRER [ RS RAAEHRERRE] —
plans for its business strategies up to 31 March 2020 as set out — EFFTH A& B A XS SRR HE1TAT 8] BA H 22020
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the #3A31BAEEERHEITEENLK:

Prospectus with the Group’s actual implementation progress:

Implementation plan up to

Business strategy 31 March 2020

EF 3 E£202053A31B M #ETHE

Expansion and enhancement of our — Replace two existing diesel tank
fleet of diesel tank wagons wagons

15 78 I B SO BT 1B BE R B —ERC B IR A ) 58 AT 18

— Order two new diesel tank

wagons

— & R T ) SO AT B B

Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2020
EZ2020F3A31AMNEBRETER

— Two new diesel tank wagons have
been ordered to replace existing diesel
tank wagons and were available for
use in October 2019.

— BRI AR ERRIRA
BSOMATIEE - WE N2019F 103K
NS

— Two new diesel tank wagons have
been ordered in June 2019 and are
expected to be delivered by April
2020

—R2019%F6 H - B R B 3T 5m AT
TEE - WIEFF720205F4 A 22 f+F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CE R E R SR

Business strategy

E3 T

Upgrading our information technology
and systems

R BEAREE RS

Strengthening our manpower

meg I AF

Implementation plan up to
31 March 2020
F20205F3A31HWHETETE

— Purchase Enterprise Resource
Planning System

—-BELRERREAER

— Recruit four drivers and two
logistics assistants to strengthen
our workforce required for our
fleet of diesel tank wagons

— TR ES I 42 A # K2 W 2 1 B 3R
ADNag S m AT R B B P &Y
AN

— Recruit one safety supervisor to
enhance our occupational safety

management
—HE-— AT EEBIEREK
PHBEL 2B
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Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2020
F2020F3A3MENERETERE

— The Group is still in negotiation
with the potential suppliers on the
requirements and specification of the
new office administrative information
technology system.

—REBDRFRAZITHEARIR
REHER IR B EEE
TR

— Four drivers and two logistics assistants
were hired up to 31 March 2020

—EH%202063A318 - EEAME A
1 K2 /R 44 10 Bh 2R

— Safety supervisor will be hired by the
year ended 31 March 2021.

— LR EEBKMN2021F3A31HIEEF
ERTEA



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE R K

Implementation plan up to
Business strategy 31 March 2020
e B £202063A31H W75 &

— Recruit two accounting staff to
support the Group on a wide
spectrum of accounting and
company secretarial matters

—HEMEEAR  RAEEE
G R ARMEEFHIE
2

— Recruit one administrative staff
to support the expansion of the

Group
—HE—Z1THAE  AEAEER
ERIEMH S FF
Working Capital —To be used as working capital
EEES and funding for other general

corporate purposes according to

our current business plans.

—RIBFHFIE AT ERTE] - AE
ZEEeRAEM—RARA
HRHES

Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2020
EZ2020F3A31ENWERIETER

— One senior accountant has been hired
to provide financial and secretarial
support to our Group. Rest of
accounting staff will be hired by the
year ended 31 March 2021.

—EREA-E2aREFRATEEREH
B RWELSEERAR KB
ST AB#R202143A31H IEFE AT
#2

— One administrative staff was hired in
May 2019.

—BR2019F5 A A —RITHRAER

— We remain focused on maintaining
and investing in our working capital in
order to fund our expanding business
and enhance our operating liquidity
as we pursuit business and revenue
growth.

—HPIEER D @R R RE R
LEED  AEERPIERELRK
@RI RNRFSRMAERERAE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEAERE PR

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares were listed on GEM on 8 January 2019 by way of Share
Offer. The Directors intend to apply the net proceeds from the
Share Offer (the “Net Proceeds”) in accordance with the proposed
implementation plan as set out in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The Net Proceeds after
deducting underwriting commission and other Listing expenses,
amounted to approximately HK$34.8 million. Set out below is the
actual use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March 2020:

FRERERE

f&An LARR 10 3 E &9 75 201951 H8HTEGEM
E e EFRIRBERER [ RRFTEI RFIEHK
BAZ] —SMENERREREIEARN
EMEFIEFE ([EREFE]) LNk e
HASREM EMAXE MERBFEOR
34.8AE BT HE202063 831 BB IEF
EHNERAZRHN TX:

Approximate Actual use of Unused total

Planned use of ~ percentage of Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
total Net total Net up to up to
Proceeds Proceeds 31 March 2020 31 March 2020
BEZ2020F EZ20205F
BRERE BRrEHE 3A318 3A318
FEMN FEN FREFEFEN EER L
HE LR BREAL ERAZE #AFERERRE
HK$ million HKS million HKS million
BEET BEET BEET
Purchase of diesel tank wagons (Note 1) BEELCHITHEE (ff1) 15 431 8.2 6.8
Expand manpower (Note 2) BRAN (H722) 125 35.9 14 11.1
Upgrade information technology systems ~ Fr& &R 245 (#7543)
(Note 3) 5.0 14.4 - 5.0
Working capital BB 23 6.6 23 -
34.8 100.0 1.9 229
Note: Haz -

1 Two new diesel tank wagons for replacement of existing diesel tank
wagon were delivered and available for use in October 2019. Another two
new diesel tank wagons were delivered and available for use in April 2020.

2 The Group has been actively recruiting and selecting suitable candidates
through various means including placing job advertisements with the labor
department of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and on the newspaper.

3 The Group is still in negotiation with the potential suppliers on the

requirements and specification of the new office administrative
information technology system.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CEERE R K

The Group will apply the Net Proceeds in the manners consistent
with the proposed applications set out in the section headed
"Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The
implantation plans for business strategies and use of Net Proceeds
as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best estimation
and assumption of future market conditions made by the Group
at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The Group implemented
its business strategies and applied the Net Proceeds based on the
actual development of the Group's business and industry, as well as
market conditions.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group engaged a total of 24 employees
(31 March 2019: 24 employees) including the Directors. For
the year ended 31 March 2020, total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$6.6 million (year ended 31 March 2019:
approximately HK$6.5 million). Remuneration (including
employees’ benefits) is maintained within the market level and
reviewed on a periodic basis. Employees’ salary and relevant
benefits are determined on the basis of performance, qualification,
experience, positions and the Group's business performance.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. These laws and regulations cover
a broad range of environmental matters, including air pollution,
noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil products or other hazardous
substances. The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection and has implemented various environmental protection
measures in order to minimise the operation impact on the
environment and natural resources. Details of environment policies
and performance are set out in the section headed "“Environment,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 42 to 82 of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

The Board is committed to establishing and ensuring high standards
of corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices. The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and
sound corporate governance practices are essential for the growth
of the Group and for safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’
interests.

The Directors consider that throughout the year ended 31 March
2020, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the management and administration of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
board committees of the Company. Further details of the board
committees of the Company are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Group by the direction and supervision of
the Group's business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility
for day to day management of the Group which is delegated
to the management. To this end, monthly financial and
operational information are provided to the Board for assessing
the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. For
significant matters that are specifically delegated by the Board,
the management must report back to and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEEBRSE

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the

corporate governance duties as set out in the code provision D.3.1
of the CG Code, which include:

(@

d)

to develop and review our Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

review and monitor our Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

to review our Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Up to the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors, of

whom two are executive Directors and three are independent non-

executive Directors. Details of their composition by category are as

follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fenn David

Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew

Mr. Ho Cheung Kong
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or
substantive experience and industry knowledge. The Board
as a whole has achieved an appropriate balance of skills and
experience. The composition of the Board is in accordance with
the requirement of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.
There are three independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has accounting professional qualification. More than one-
third of the members of the Board are independent non-executive
Directors, which brings a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the
Board brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent
judgment on issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance,
conflicts of interests and management process to ensure that
the interests of all shareholders of the Company have been duly
considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 108 to 114 of this report. Other than that Mr. Law Ming Yik
is the cousin of Mr. Li Isaiah, there are no family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group's activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee
(the “"Nomination Committee”), on 11 December 2018 and
delegated them with powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affair. Each of the committees of the Board has been
established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”). The Chairman also meets
with the independent non-executive Directors at least once a year
without the presence of other executive Directors. Notices and
agendas of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least 14 days before convening the Board meeting. For all other
Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. All other schedules and the relevant information of each
Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access
to the management whenever necessary.

The attendance of each of the Directors at the Board meetings,
meetings of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee held during the year is set out below:

Board
Name of Directors Meeting
EEpR Ezeg
Executive Directors: HTES
Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman) BEEBRE(LE) 414
Mr. Li Isaiah FRBEE 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Fenn David TEW it 44
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew REXE 44
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong @E?If‘ii 44
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HERY ERETRY
Annual
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
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The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters
arising from corporate governance, risk management, statutory

compliance, accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board

and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election and Rotation of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting (the
“"AGM"), one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at the AGM at least
once every three years.
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The Directors were appointed for a specific term and are subject
to re-election. Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company. The service contract of each of
the executive Directors is for and initial of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The
appointment letter of each of the independent non-executive
Directors is for a term of one year commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by either party giving at least one
month’s notice in writing. The aforesaid appointment letters are
subject to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-
election provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters
are summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 87
of this report.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends each of the Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary of the
Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fenn David, Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew and Mr. Ho Cheung
Kong were appointed as the independent non-executive Directors
with effect from 11 December 2018.
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The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting,
finance, industry knowledge and expertise. With their professional
knowledge and experience, the independent non-executive
Directors serve an important function of advising the senior
management on strategy development and ensure that the
Board maintains high standards in financial and other mandatory
reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances for
safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company
as a whole; and participate in the Company’s various committees
including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence.
The Company considers the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Law Ming Yik was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and was re-designated as an executive Director of the Company
on 24 November 2017. Mr. Li Isaiah was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer and was re-designated as an executive Director of
the Company on 24 November 2017.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board
and is also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board
in accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for the implementation of the business strategies,
policies and objectives set out by the Board and is accountable to
the Board for the overall operations of the Group. These functions
and responsibilities are current being shared by the management

team.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 11 December
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The full terms of reference
setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the
Audit Committee is available on both the GEM's website and the
Company's website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ho Cheung Kong, Mr. Wong Ka Chun
Matthew and Mr. Fenn David. Mr. Ho Cheung Kong is the Chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board by providing an independent view on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control and risk management system,
overseeing the balance, transparency and integrity of the
Company's financial statements and the application of financial
reporting principles, reviewing the relationship with the external
auditor and its independence assessment and the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, Mazars CPA
Limited, and recommended the Board to reappoint Mazars CPA
Limited as the Company’s auditors in the year ending 31 March
2021, which is subject to the approval of shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the
Audit Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the
external auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is
necessary.
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Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 25 in this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 11
December 2018 in compliance with Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules, which comprised two independent non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. Fenn David and Mr. Ho Cheung Kong) and
one executive Director namely Mr. Law Ming Yik. Mr. Fenn David is
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group, review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals, and ensure none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The full terms of reference setting out details of
duties of the Remuneration Committee is available on both the
GEM'’s website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under code
provision B.1.2(c)(i) of the CG Code to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company. it is also
responsible for approving the terms of the services contracts of
the executive Directors. The Company also looks into individual
Director’'s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group in determining the exact level of
remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, meeting shall be held at least once a year and
additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting
held and Directors attendance are set out in the section headed
“Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on page 25 in
this report.
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Senior Management’s remuneration
Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020 falls within the following bands:

HKS$
BT

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary
bonus and other merit payments are linked to the performance
of the Group and the individual performance of the Directors and
senior management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 11
December 2018 which comprised two independent non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew and Mr. Fenn David)
and one executive Director (namely Mr. Law Ming Yik). Mr. Law
Ming Yik is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the Committee has
set for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (including
disclosure in the Company’s corporate governance report as
appropriate); identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority, duties
and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee is available on
both the GEM's website and the Company’s website.
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Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a year
and additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and other factors listed in the policy for
the nomination of Directors, including (i) reputation for integrity;
(i) experience; (ii) availability; (iv) professional qualifications; and
(v) Board diversity as well as discussing matters regarding the
retirement and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee
would consider the need for nomination of new directors and
would make recommendations to the shareholders for election as
directors at general meetings or to the Directors for appointment to
fill casual vacancies.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 25 in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
each financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance”). In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board
has adopted appropriate and consistent accounting policies and
made prudent, fair and reasonable judgments and estimates.
The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of affairs,
operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the Group
at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 115 to 122 of this
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration for the
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company's auditor to
the Group was as follows:
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Services rendered HK$
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Annual audit service for the year ended HZE2020F3A31HIEFER

31 March 2020 FEEFRE 480,000
Services provided in connection with certain T L TR FIRMENRG

agreed-upon procedures 140,000
Total it 620,000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company's policies,
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.
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The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply
with the “comply or explain” principle in its corporate governance
report which will be included in its annual reports upon the Listing.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance
with the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is
summarised as below:

The Board Diversity Policy of the Company specifies that in
designing the composition the Board, Board diversity shall be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge. All Board members’ appointment will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of
the Board. Selection of candidates for the Board will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture, ethnicity and educational background, professional
experience, knowledge and skills.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”)
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The Company has
confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all
the Directors have complied with the Code of Conduct throughout
the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through the AGM or other general
meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.
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The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions
put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on relevant
information on the Group's business in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

From the Listing Date to the date of this report, there has been
no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

General Meetings with Shareholders
The Company's AGM will be held on 20 August 2020.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Principles and Guidelines

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and future
business growth.

The Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Articles and all

applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

a. financial results;

b. cash flow situation;
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c.  business conditions and strategies;

d. future operations and earnings;

e. capital requirements and expenditure plans;

f. interests of shareholders;

g. any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

h. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the
conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period as:

1. interim dividend;

2. final dividend:;

3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

REVIEW OF THE DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board shall review the Policy as appropriate from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting (the
"EGM") on requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require the EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating
to the operations and management of the Group to be
discussed at shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall
be sent to the Company Secretary by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene the EGM by following the procedures set out in
“Convening of the EGM on requisition by shareholders”
above.
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(c) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions,
inquiries and consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive
Officer, in writing to the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the enquiries.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. The Company is committed
to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information
to its shareholders and investment public. The Company updates
its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports.
The corporate website of the Company (www.skhl.com.hk) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
shareholders.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company has established an inside information disclosure
policy. The Board is responsible for timely, accurate and
complete dissemination of inside information about the Group
to the market by making proper and timely disclosure of inside
information announcements. Our policy strictly requires our
Directors, Management and employees to keep unpublished inside
information confidential and refrain from dealing in the Company’s
securities if they are in possession of such inside information.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai, our Company Secretary, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board
procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with management.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk
management and internal control include a defined management
structure with limits in authority, is designed to (i) help achieve
business objectives; (i) safeguard assets against unauthorised use
or disposition; (iii) ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and (iv) ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment
within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the
Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

NEME

NRAMEREBELAENCREEAEENE
FeRHERYBMRETEFEHERMER
BRVED - RAIRRG - FFEESH R ERF AR
WENERLIRBUERESSETEAZEER
KTBBRERESEST I RAWERE
REBFZHEAREFTRERE 2HNER

REZE2020F3HA3MHIEFE AW ECER
GEM T8 BI85 1516 H 18 7F 2 B2 157\ BF Y
B EZEE -

b EE R A B E
EXe2HAERYRERAREEEMEXN
RE R B IR M ARBEE IR R - AR B M RRE
ERABEZERRBRE —EAGBERS A
R SEGNHBEREBFBR: (MRE
BEETREACANES : (EREFEEK
SR RCERA SR AT B E M S B Ry A] 52
B AR (VFERETHEBDERMOER -
EREERMEERNRERMKIBRIEHAE
(EFBE) WRE  LER (MIHR) 2ER
RARBRARBEREEERK B ZHEE

REBMEREY —EABERE THMBEBENLE
BUR RIEfF B E MR - SR OEBH D

%/ﬂﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ:ﬁ§$aAﬂﬁmmm
ERES  HZAOBNWEERKRBEAE WEER
ES %’i&%f’

BRI AR AT 2019/2020 3R 39



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed
to various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified
into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance

risks.
Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ B SB35 FTE@ME

Strategic Risks

ERRASRERKERT HERSBAR R
EE2020F3A31H LFE - REBHR LA T
2RO BAEERR 2ERR MR
BN E B

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new development and customers’

expectation; market competition risk; reputation risk

BB S L e

Operational Risks
ZEE R

Financial Risks

8 R

HHABROBRMN  RIEMERLAEPHME  mERFAR: BEER

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

BB HRGETR: TH: EAMRERTE

Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; foreign exchange risk; inflation risk

mBEEER EERE : MRER: SMNERE  BARER

Compliance Risks

B R E R

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances
related to employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and
ordinances

HRBELEMEREENRR  TETREEGBEORDIMER - TR R NAEE

NCIEE R DSEE ST

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated the executive management with the
responsibility to carry out the risk identification and monitoring
procedures. The objectives of the risk management are to enhance
the governance and corporate management processes as well as to
safequard the Group against unacceptable levels of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among
others, (i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which
involves assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and
the development of risk management plans for mitigating such
risks; and (ii) an annual review of the implementation of the risk
management plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan
when necessary.
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During the Reporting Period to the date of this report, the Board,
through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
with a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will identify and
inform the Board of any material issues.

Although the Group does not maintain an internal audit function,
the Board has overall responsibility for risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing its effectiveness.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s internal control and risk
management system annually and further enhance the Group's
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The
Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless, the
Directors will continue to review at least annually the need for an
internal audit function.

GOING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance
standards on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the
necessary actions to ensure compliance with the required practices
and standards including the provisions of the CG Code.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Sun Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries, (the “Group”) is pleased to present its Environmental,
Social and Governance ("ESG”) Report. The content contained
herein focuses on providing an overview of the environmental,
social and governance performance of its major operations
in Hong Kong from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 (the
"Reporting Year"). It helps the Group to keep a close eye on its
current performance as well as the opportunities to improve its
performance. The Reporting Year coincides with our financial year.

Scope of the Report

This report has been prepared in accordance with Appendix 20
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
"ESG Reporting Guide”) to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The report summarizes the
Group's ESG performance from the Reporting Year, and covers its
management policies, mechanisms and measures in place during
the Reporting Year with respect to environmental protection,
emission reduction, safe workplace, personnel training and
drills, supply chain management and community investment and
engagement. Focuses are placed on certain aspects closely relevant
to its shareholders and stakeholders, and its full commitment to
sustainable development of the Group as a whole.

The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide and the Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating
and determining the Group's ESG-related risks and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.
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Feedback

For details of our ESG performance, corporate governance
as well as financial performance, please visit our website at
http://www.skhl.com.hk and our Annual Reports.

ABOUT SUN KONG
Our Business

The Group was listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange in 2018
(stock code 8631). Its sales services include sourcing diesel oil
through oil trading companies, dispatching the fleet of diesel
tank wagons to collect diesel oil from oil depots designated by
the suppliers, and eventually delivering diesel oil to destinations
designated by the customers. With the delivery capacity and
flexibility to devise delivery schedule for the customers, the Group
enjoys a competitive edge in the industry.

Our Goal

To become the leading diesel oil provider focusing on the logistics
sector in Hong Kong.

Board of Directors (the “Board”)
As at the date of this announcement, the Board consists of:

Executive Directors

& &
ERRMRE e kEARRE 0EF
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BEREE
BRFmER
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Exe ([E38))

RAREAH EFGEHE:

Independent Non-executive Directors

BAFATES

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
BREELE(ZE)
Mr. Li Isaiah (CEO)
FRMEE (7T AEE)

Mr. Fenn David
SEiRELLE
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew
BEREILE
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong
fARI%E
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS RPN EHE
REBRBBBITNRERAATHEHEWHEE
BUARBREENEIHFENREA - BB F1H
ERFERE A TSR EFERG R M EEK
WAEYEEREENAE-

Our Group actively strives to better understand and engage our
stakeholders to ensure continuous improvements. We strongly
believe that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the
success of our business in the challenging market.

Stakeholders
BHE

Probable issues of concern

BENBEIEE

Communication and responses

BEEDE

HKEX Compliance with listing rules, timely and Meetings, training, roadshows, workshops,
accurate announcements. programs, website updates and
announcements.
ERBRGM By ET R R B R EREE L Ao & HI R ITEY IER - U ER
YN
Government Compliance with laws and regulations, Interaction and visits, government
prevention of tax evasion, and social inspections, tax returns and other
welfare. information.
1245 BPERRER BRERANEEE EFREKRT BAEE MHREEMER -
R
Suppliers Payment schedule, stable demand. Site visits.
HER NHREFREKR REFLK- BEHAR e

Shareholders/Investors

R REE

Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, and
investment returns.

EEBERRR FHREERBEALK
Ak

o

EU
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Organizing and participating in seminars,
interviews, shareholders’ meetings, issue
of financial reports and/or operation
reports for investors, media and analysts.
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Stakeholders Probable issues of concern Communication and responses

BFHE BENBIEE BEEEE

Media & Public Corporate governance, environmental Issue of newsletters on the Company’s
protection, and human right. website.

HE R AR BEER RRMAE- FAZR X B Ak I B EeL o

Customers Product quality, delivery times, reasonable  Site visits, and after-sales services.

prices, service value, labour protection
and work safety.

B EmE R RNEE aBER RKBE BEHRERERRE-
B STRERTIEZZ-

Employees Rights and benefits, employee Discussion between employees and
compensation, training and executives, trainings, interviews for
development, work hours, and employees, employee handbooks, internal
working environment. memos, employee suggestion boxes.

== BAREN EE®RH FIEER T HESKXENH Bl BESETE
TERF R R TEIRIR - # TEEEFM FEANBEE &R

VEERRM-

Community Community environment, employment Community activities, employee voluntary
and community development, and activities, community welfare subsidies
social welfare. and charitable donations.

Zanl HEBERE EREMEBERUARMEER HREH EERIEE HELAHEKR
e HERM-
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SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group strongly believes in the virtues of sustainable
development, and that its business development should not be
achieved at the expense of the environment. While pursuing
growth in our sales of diesel oil in Hong Kong, we stay committed
to protecting the nature. We endeavor to integrate components of
environmental sustainability into our business operations through
various measures, so as to raise our employees’ awareness, as
well as better monitor our carbon emission level and the relevant
intensity’.

In this Reporting Year, there was no material non-compliance issue
with relevant laws and regulations related to the environment. The
Group will continue to be alert to any non-compliance behavior
related to critical environmental issues.

Emissions

The Group is committed to promoting environmental health
and human well-being. Environmental protection and emissions
reduction are always the top priority at the Group. The emissions
data has been measured for better understanding its environmental
impacts and taking meaningful actions in the future.
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Air Emissions ARHHY

Combustion of diesel oil from vehicles was the main culprit of E#EFELEMEE R AEB KR 5LYHERHTT
the Group's emissions of air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides % BREARSEYBERE/LY ([NOX )
(“NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and particulate matters (“PM")  Fi& L% ([SOx | ) KB Z kL ([PM ) &5 -
etc. Due to the limitation in data collection for the distance travelled ~RAEIREFH D AR ETH BRHIFEH E S EIR
by the vehicles, the Group’s air emission was estimated by the unit | + N5 B &9 KRBV 1L B 8B FE R S8 h &
of diesel oil consumed by the vehicles2. The composition of our air {512 ° AE B KT EEMR T :
emissions was as below:

Nitrogen Sulphur Oxides
Oxides (NOx) (SOx)
AEY E=kla)

1911.6 | 2.5
kg 52 kg T52

Particulate
Matters (PM)
BT IR
kg T

' The different intensity figures in this report were calculated using the total ! AWEFOTEREGIENDEAEFMAE L AT
number of vehicles and monthly average number of employees, which HREE A HE - Fat 8B R20206F3A31H 5 Al
were 11 (2019: 9) and 23.75 (2019: 20.58) respectively as at 31 March A1185 (20194 : 98§ ) K 23.75A (20194 : 20.58
2020. The total number of vehicles and the relevant intensity figures of last AN REJINEARTERERNERE BEHEFH
year have been adjusted to present a more comprehensive and accurate BHIRBE R AR E SR EL AR -
data.

? By estimating the travelling distance based on the units of fuel consumed 2 BATAKE TEZRhttps://ecib.emsd.gov.hk/

by the vehicles, using the “Transport — Energy Utilization Index” issued by index.php/hk/energy-utilisation-index-hk/transport-
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department at https:/ecib.emsd.gov. sector-hkZE (i 1Y) [iE 8 -8E OB FER IS ) (AaT E R E
hk/index.php/hk/energy-utilisation-index-hk/transport-sector-hk . U E FEMR O A0 7T BLRE A o
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In this Reporting year, the total air emissions amounted to
approximately 2,066 kg (2019: 1,085 kg), with an increase of 90%
compared with the previous year. Correspondingly, the air emission
intensity was 188 kg per vehicles (2019: 121 kg per vehicle),
with a total of 11 vehicles operating under the Group, showing
an increase of approximately 55% compared with last year. The
significant increase in air emissions was caused by the increase in
number of oil tank wagons from 7 to 8 by 14% and number of
light goods vehicles from 2 to 3 by 50%, as well as the ageing of
the vehicles. On top of that, traffic obstruction during the social
movement in 2019 resulted in prolonged use of vehicles, leading
to notable increase in fuel consumption and the corresponding air
emissions.

While our air emissions largely depends on market demands, we
have continued to invest in environmentally-friendly equipment to
reduce our emissions. In this Reporting Year, the Group has invested
approximately HK$2,363,000 in a medium goods truck under
the list of approved environmentally-friendly commercial vehicles,
replacing the older model in an attempt to cut down air emissions
in the future. On top of this, the Group will continue to record
and evaluate its air emission data while giving annual disclosure
of the relevant data. By this means, we keep a close eye on the
effectiveness of our measures and continue to invest in emission
reduction in the future.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are the main contributors to
global warming. In an effort to reduce GHG emissions and carbon
footprint, the Group embraces green practices in its day-to-day
business operations, contributing to environmental conservation,
natural resource preservation and waste reduction.

In this Reporting Year, the Group recorded approximately 410
tonnes of GHG emissions (2019: 296 tonnes), with an increase
of 39% compared with the previous year. The corresponding
GHG emission intensity amounted to approximately 37 tonnes
per vehicle (2019: 33 tonnes per vehicle), showing a reduction
of approximately 12% compared with last year. With the sales of
diesel being the principal business, the Group’s GHG emissions
were mainly attributed to the direct emissions from the combustion
of diesel used by vehicles delivering products to customers,
accounting for 98% of the total GHG emissions. Other emission
sources included indirect emissions due to electricity consumption,
paper waste disposed of at landfills, electricity used for processing
fresh water and sewage by the corresponding government
departments, as well as business air travels by employees,
accounting for the remaining 2% of the total GHG emissions. The
composition is illustrated as follows:

Total Emissions
PEpaa s

410

tonnes M

Scope 2 -
HE—- —

55# BUEREEEEENEZRE - &R
EREFRMED AEBREBBER
RSP

iﬂg A

EIE P REURRIENE - MR EIRIBIRE
RERVORLDEEY -

RAREFE  NEBEEIFHI41008 (20195
29618 ) B8 = RES B B = —F1EIM39% ©
HENAERBHEREEATRBERHLHI7
WA (20194 : B WE®H3I3INE) REF WML L
2% HREELBATFEER AEEMNR
EREBENEIERAFAEHRARTLXNER
R HFESME AN BB MR EREHER
Y4R 2 KI98% o b BEM YR IEB B IEE J1EFE
EEMREENR SRR E B MR - BT
BRI AR RSKERME N KIEE BB

EHE HEERBHRRERTH2% o BER
MERKBEMOT:

@ Scope 1 - Direct emissions
(from mobile combustion sources)
#HE—

—EEHFR CREBRBNER)

Indirect emissions from Electricity Consumption

BEREMMZRIER

@ Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions

HBE= — HBEEHENR
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The Group's detailed greenhouse gas emissions breakdown in this ~ AEBE R AR E FE 0 F 48 = 788 BE AR 48
Reporting Year can be found in the table below. These data will & T 5 3% & BUE 5 4% 5 1F 22 R SR 8UIE HL &
be used as a benchmark for comparison with future data, so that — HYZE - DUFE A EE R B & 1B M5 & IR
informed decisions and meaningful actions can be taken by the  BUA =2 MEHE AR A T RIEE R 8 BE Y -
Group to reduce emissions in different categories in the future.

GHG produced GHG produced
in 2018/19 in 2019/20
GHG Emission Sources (tonnes) (tonnes) % change

20185 /19 20194 /204
EENBERE EENBEERE

BERBHBR (1) (1) ZEE S
Scope 1 - Direct emission from diesel HE——5mER
combustion (vehicles) P £ BN
(EH) 285.02 402.07 141.07%
Scope 2 - Indirect emissions from electricity BE--EHHE
consumption? FT 7 AE Ao FE B2 BERC 9.28 6.63 | 28.56%
Scope 3 - Other indirect emission sources HE=—Hin s
BERUROR
- Paper waste disposal at landfills — BEIE G
g 1.02 0.72
- Electricity used for processing fresh — RKEEMA
water g 0.02 0.01 | 33.85%
- Electricity used for processing sewage® — JSKEEFA
B 0.01 <0.01
- Business air travel by employees - EERBMZE
a3 0.25 0.13
Grand Total Mt 295.60 409.57 1 38.56%
GHG Emission Intensity per vehicle SHEFHREREH
BEE 32.84 37.23 113.37%
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GHG emissions from scope 1 has increased by 41% compared with
the previous year. As aforementioned, the notable increase in this
category could be attributed to the increase in number of oil tank
wagons from 7 to 8 by 14% and number of light goods vehicles
from 2 to 3 by 50%, together with the ageing of vehicles. In the
meantime, traffic obstruction during the social movement in 2019
resulted in prolonged use of vehicles, leading to significant increase
in fuel consumption and the corresponding direct GHG emission.

On the other hand, emissions from both scope 2 and scope 3
have decreased compared with last year, showing a reduction of
29% and 34% respectively. The social movement in Hong Kong
started in June 2019, as well as the global outbreak of the novel
coronavirus since early 2020, have posed a notable impact on the
Group’s business operation, resulting in reduced electricity and
water consumption at its office. Correspondingly, the emissions
from scope 2 and 3 has dropped significantly.

3 The carbon emission of China Light and Power (“CLP") was 0.62 kg CO2e/
kWh for the year 2019 as announced in their Sustainability Report 2019.
Emission data in this category in the previous financial year has been
adjusted with the latest emission factor announced in order to present a
more accurate data.

4 Purchased electricity consumption per unit volume of fresh water treated
was taken as 0.606 kWh/m?3, as latest announced by Hong Kong Water
Supplies Department in their 2018/19 Sustainability Report. Emission data
in this category in the previous financial year has been adjusted with the
latest emission factor announced in order to present a more accurate data.

> Purchased electricity consumption per unit volume of sewage treated
was 0.28 kWh/unit, as latest announced by Hong Kong Drainage Services
Department in their 2018/19 Sustainability Report. Emission data in this
category in the previous financial year has been adjusted with the latest

emission factor announced in order to present a more accurate data.
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As aforementioned in the “Air Emissions” section, while the
Group's direct GHG emissions from fuel combustion by mobile
sources largely depends on market demands, it has continued
to invest in environmentally-friendly equipment to contribute to
emission reduction. In this Reporting year, the Group has invested
approximately HK$2,363,000 in a medium goods truck under the
list of approved environmentally-friendly commercial vehicles to
replace the older model. Besides, only certified energy efficient
products will be purchased as office equipment. Employees are also
highly encouraged to adopt natural lighting whenever possible.

On the other hand, the Group upholds the 3Rs principle, namely
reduce, reuse and recycle. We promote reduction in consumption
of electricity, water resources, paper and stationery. Employees are
reminded to adopt double-sided printing, while single-side-printed
paper is collected for reuse. A whiteboard is also adopted in the
meeting room, so that our employees can use it for discussion
instead of using paper.

The Group will continue to monitor and control its GHG emissions
in a bid to contribute to energy conservation and cut down its
carbon footprint.

Waste Management

The capacity of landfills and the availability of suitable land
for landfills have been continuously decreasing. Together with
the significant environmental impacts of waste disposal, waste
reduction has always been one of the Group's objectives.
Hazardous Waste

As aforementioned, the Group’s core business involves the sales of

diesel oil. No hazardous waste such as chemical waste and clinical
waste was produced in this Reporting Year.
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Non-hazardous Waste

The Group’s non-hazardous waste was mainly composed of paper
waste. In this Reporting Year, the total paper waste produced
amounted to approximately 150 kg (2019: 213 kg), with a
corresponding non-hazardous waste intensity of 6 kg per employee
(2019: 10 kg per employee), considering the monthly average
number of employees being 23.75.
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Logging is involved in paper production process, provoking
both direct and indirect negative impacts on the environment.
To advocate waste reduction within our workplace, we have
encouraged our employees to adopt double-sided printing,
with single-side-printed paper being collected for reuse. With
our continuous effort in waste reduction, we have successfully
reduced our paper waste and waste intensity by 30% and 40%
respectively. The Group will continue to strive for reduction in paper
consumption, so as to whittle down the production of paper waste
and its corresponding emissions.
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Use of Resources

The Group pledges to become an environmentally-friendly and a
sustainable enterprise. To reduce carbon emission and footprint,
we have implemented a range of carbon reduction measures
in our daily operations, ranging from the adoption of energy-
saving equipment to the promotion of 3Rs principles among our
employees.

Energy Consumption

In this Reporting year, the total energy consumption® amounted
to approximately 10,695 kWh (2019: 14,053 kWh), with
electricity being the only source of energy. The corresponding
energy consumption intensity, which is calculated by dividing
the electricity consumption by the monthly average number of
employees, was approximately 450 kWh per employee (2019:
683 kWh per employee). Compared with the previous year, our
energy consumption and intensity have reduced by 24% and 34%
respectively. The breakdown of our energy consumption by month
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The social movement in Hong Kong started in June 2019, as well
as the global outbreak of the novel coronavirus since early 2020,
have posed a notable impact on the Group's business operation,
resulting in reduced electricity consumption at its office. Our
pattern of electricity consumption also fluctuated with the seasonal
changes of weather in Hong Kong.

On top of external factors, the Group has continued to invest in
energy conservation, such as purchasing certified energy efficient
products as office equipment. Employees are highly encouraged to
adopt natural lighting whenever possible. They are also reminded to
switch off idle electronic appliances and lights when they are not in
use, as well as before they leave the office. We will put continuous
effort in the aspect of energy conservation to further minimize our
carbon footprint.

6 The monthly electricity consumption were not calculated by the exact
number of days, instead, the electricity usage data on the electricity bill
received in the month was taken as monthly electricity usage of that

month.
Water Consumption

The total water consumption’ & in this Reporting Year amounted
to approximately 22 m? (2019: 55 m?3). The corresponding water
consumption intensity, which is calculated by dividing the water
consumption by the monthly average number of employees, was
around 1 m? per employee (2019: 3 m® per employee).
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The total water consumption and its intensity have reduced
significantly by 60% and 67% respectively. This could be mainly
attributed to the disrupted business operations caused by the social
movement started in June 2019, as well as the global outbreak
of the novel coronavirus since early 2020. As our water is sourced
from the governmental body, there was no water supply issue
identified in the Reporting Year.

Effective use of water can significantly whittle down the indirect
consumption of electricity during water processing. The Group
encourages its staff to save and use less water by promoting water
conservation among its staff with the help of reminders posted next
to water taps.

’ The monthly water consumption were not calculated by the exact number
of days. Instead, the water usage data was calculated by dividing the water
consumption data on the water bill roughly by the number of months

involved.

8 As the water bill from October 2019 to March 2020 were yet to be
obtained, the water consumption data in these months were estimated
based on the consumption in first half of the financial year.

The Group's water consumption is considered as immaterial as it is
not directly associated with its principal business. Nonetheless, the
Group is still committed to the conservation of water resources. We
will continue to monitor our use of water closely, so as to minimize
the corresponding carbon footprint.

Packaging Material
As the Group’s core business involves the sales of diesel oil, no

significant usage of packaging materials was identified by the
Group in this Reporting Year.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group believes that business development should not be
achieved at the expense of the environment. As such, the Group
has been implementing various environmentally-friendly practices
in various aspects as mentioned above.

In this Reporting year, the Group has invested approximately
HK$2,363,000 in a medium goods truck under the list of approved
environmentally-friendly commercial vehicles to replace the older
model, so as to cut down its emissions. More resources will be
invested in this aspect to further upgrade our equipment and
reduce our carbon footprint.

With our dedicated effort in environmental protection, we are
pleased to report that no material non-compliance issue regarding
relevant laws and regulations was identified in the Reporting
Year. To keep up with our achievement, we will continue to
monitor our use of resources and strive to further reduce our
consumptions, in a bid to contribute to environmental protection as
an environmentally-friendly and a sustainable enterprise.

SECTION B: SOCIAL - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

Employment

Employees are fundamental to the Group’s success. All our
employees’ contribution and dedication to our business
development are valued equally by us. The Group has put
continuous effort to provide a harmonious working environment
for its employees. In the meantime, we strive to grow with our
employees as it is mutually beneficial to both the employees and our
business development in the long run.
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Our Employees

As at 31 March 2020, the Group consisted of 24 employees (2019:
24 employees). The composition of our employees is detailed

below:
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The Group consists of diverse workforce of different age groups and
gender. We believe that a workforce with diversity and inclusiveness
are essential to a successful and sustainable business. Meanwhile,
around 39% of our employees have served the Group for over 3
years, with 13% of them having served for more than 10 years.

The Group strives for a harmonious and inclusive working
environment, so that its employees are free from harassment and
discrimination. Our employees are also recruited regardless of their
age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, family status, disability, race,
nationality, religion and/or sexual orientation.

Equal opportunities and diversity for all employees are highly valued
by the Group. Such employment opportunity policy is applicable
to our staff recruitment, remuneration, as well as termination and
dismissal. Job applicants will be required to attend interviews,
during which applicants’ performance will be assessed together
with their academic qualifications and other references available.
Background search will also be conducted for recruitment of staff
in higher ranks.

We also maintain employees’ compensation insurance for all of
our employees as required under the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong. We operate
defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under MPF
schemes registered under the relevant laws and regulations for our
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to such schemes are based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

During the Reporting Period, no material non-compliance regarding
employment has been brought against the Group or its employees.

AEBEREBTRFHRAR LIEREE T o FHA
RREBZTERBERUEMNE THREEKI M
ARENEBEREE AR Q39%0NEEE
RASERBEBE=F ER13%CREEBR
T

AEEZH2E—EANFEERNTIERE A
FHREERRTMEERER - HEEE TN
i % F R F e MR IR - B2 KEM
W BERR MR BIEE  RER AR

AEEREERAEBREBEHTSFNREIN
MREENZ T -ARAERBEESBRERAREK
PIEN B THRE - H A R AR -2 18 N e - SRER
ERZMED LA RPBESHEER
Hirl F A2 ZHRBENRIRETHE A
EEEERTR RMATSETERRE-

HAITRIBR B EDIF282F B B fE 1R HI A
REBEMBRIZRERNRESMERER
BEEBHERR BMAERESEBEERE
MEEDI SRR M 2 RS8R T 2 E 5
HBRKEFFTE - BT 8 2 R IIAEE
EeFeZ—EAN L REE-

RESHE YEHUASENEREEHE
BzERTEMREM-

BRI AR AT 2019/2020 3R 59



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE -HERELBRSE

Employee Benefits

Comprehensive remuneration package is provided to all
our employees with reference to market practice and their
performance. On top of that, year-end bonus is awarded to staff
based on their contribution, as well as the Group’s performance.
Special bonus may also be given to staff with outstanding
achievement. Moreover, the Group contributes to the Mandatory
Provident Fund and provides employees’ compensation insurance
in compliance with the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong.
Considering the needs of employees in different job positions,
different employees’ compensation insurance would be purchased
for drivers and office staff separately.

To enhance the performance and address the learning needs
of our employees, annual staff assessment will be conducted,
evaluating factors such as team spirit, job responsibility, attitude,
punctuality, capability, quality of work and efficiency. Employees
with satisfactory results in the annual appraisal may be considered
for promotion, salary adjustment and bonus.

Work-life Balance of Employees

The Group understands that adequate rest is crucial to the
sustainability of its workforce, thus it has developed corresponding
internal policies to help its employees achieve work-life balance.
To accommodate the routines of different job positions, different
working hours are assigned to drivers and office staff. Drivers are
working on shift, while office staff are working from Monday to
Saturday. Our employees are engaged in 50 to 60 hours of work
each week, with at least 1 rest day to ensure sufficient rest. They
can also adopt flexible lunch hour based on their needs.

On top of these, our employees are entitled to a range of leaves,
including annual leave, maternity leave, marriage leave, family
bereavement leave, as well as medical leave. To celebrate festive
holiday and recognize the contribution of our employees, we also
distribute gifts to our employees on special occasions such as Mid-
autumn Festival and Dragon Boat Festival.
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Talent Retention AT RE

With the adoption of an employee-oriented approach in our BEERFIHAIFEREFRAAEE BT D
internal policies, we successfully achieved an overall retention rate 8975 7% ° B FIR AR & F E R IH B IH 49100%
at approximately 100% (2019: 98%) in this Reporting Year, with a (20194 : 98% ) K B B2 (R 88 K » BB+ F R
slight increase of 2% compared with the previous year. Meanwhile,  #§1% K£2% - F & RPN EE ARELA XY A
our overall monthly turnover rate was approximately 1.9% (2019:  1.9% (20195 : 1.6% ) cEMIRAFRBF E
1.6%). Our achievement in talent retention could be attributed MG AIGERNEERN LB FEREERE T
to the employee benefits and our effort in building long-term K EFRAZR 77 AT A0 2S 1

relationships with our employees.

Employee Retention Rate by Age Group and Gender
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In case of dismissal, our employees are required to submit prior fRIEERER -EEAERA —EAZELELER
written notice 1 month in advance. They will confirm their last B HEERRILERERAEERRERE
payroll in written documents on their last day of employment. T&-
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to safeguarding the safety, health and
welfare of all its employees. Not only does it aim to meet the
minimum occupational health and safety standards required
by law, but exceed them. To realize our commitment, we have
implemented a number of policies with regard to workplace safety.

In accordance with “Dangerous Goods (General) Regulations (Cap.
295B)", all oil tank wagons under the Group have obtained relevant
license from the authority to operate and transport diesel oil. They
have been equipped with fire equipment for potential hazards,
while labels declaring the presence of inflammable goods inside the
vehicles have been attached to the front or rear end of all vehicles.
Vehicles are also under regular checks and maintenance to ensure
that they are in good condition. Besides, the Group maintains a
license register to keep track of all the licenses and their respective
expiry dates, so as to arrange renewal of the licenses in a timely
manner.
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On top of these, all drivers are required to attend safety training
session organized by Sinopec before they are allowed to operate
oil tank wagons in the oil depots. Only authorized persons with
relevant license from Sinopec will be permitted in the oil depots.
Smoking is strictly prohibited at oil stations to prevent fire hazards.
Meanwhile, safety handbook has been established and distributed
to all the drivers responsible for delivering diesel oil. It outlines the
safety protocols for various hazards, such as car crash of various
severity, oil leakage and fire. Emergency contacts for government
bodies, hospitals, and garages for maintenance are enclosed in
the handbook as well. The Group has also equipped its office
and station with adequate fire equipment and first aid tool box,
with various signage posted around the workplace to remind its
employees of the importance of work safety. All these measures
help to create a safe working environment and protect our
employees from occupational hazards.

In the meantime, the Group provides employee’ compensation
insurance to all its employees, which cover work injuries and other
medical needs. In case of work injury, our employees are entitled to
medical leave, so that they can have sufficient rest for recovery.

We are pleased to report that there was no work injury reported
within our Group in this Reporting Year. As the Group places its
employee’ safety as top priority, it will continue to strive for a safe
and healthy work environment for its employees.
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Development and Training

The Group encourages its employees to engage in continuous
learning, in order to equip themselves for future challenges. On-
the-job training is provided to all the newly recruited employees,
so that they can acquire all the necessary skills and knowledge for
their roles, as well as assimilating into the Group smoothly. Drivers
are required to attend safety training organized by Sinopec Group
before they are allowed to operate oil tank wagons in the oil
depots.

We have also set up standardized operation manual for our
employees’ future reference.

On the other hand, in pursuit of better corporate governance and
management of the staff, training is provided to all our senior
management. For instance, the Group has engaged Independent
Commission against Corruption (“ICAC”) to give integrity training
session to its senior management, so as to equip them with the
knowledge with regard to internal control systems and business
ethics for listed companies. Senior management have also attended
a series of professional accountancy training sessions, covering
a wide range of topics, such as ethical governance, insider
dealing and sustainability in business operations. Meanwhile, our
accounting staff have attended seminar on the key changes in
accounting work, which helps to equip our staff with the latest
knowledge and skills for our business operations as well.

In this Reporting Year, 10 of our employees have received a total
of 119.5 hours of training. The Group will continue to invest more
resources into its employees’ training and development, so that its
staff can keep abreast of the market changes and demands.
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Labour Standards

The Group highly values human rights and it strictly complies with
all labour laws and regulations that prohibit child labour and forced
labour. During the course of our recruitment process, documents
authenticating the applicant’ identity and eligibility to work are
obtained and verified, so as to ensure compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. No person below the age of 18 will be hired or
forced to work at the Group. Any act of violence, with the purpose
of deliberately causing discomfort, threats and/or bodily harm,
as well as forcing employees to work, is strictly prohibited by the
Group. Our employees are welcomed to report to the management
if they notice any potential violation, or if they are experiencing
forced labour. The management will investigate the matter and
take follow-up actions in serious manner, in a bid to ensure that no
employee is working against his/her will.

In this Reporting Year, there was no material non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations in relation to labour standards.

SECTION B: SOCIAL - OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that proper supply chain management could
bring positive impacts to the social environment in which it
operates, thus measures of quality assurance are in place to monitor
its supply chain closely. We maintain a list of approved suppliers
which have met our procurement requirements. Purchase order
will only be made with suppliers on the list, ensuring the quality
of our products and mitigating the risk of potential disruption in
our supply chain. Regular assessment will also be conducted to our
suppliers so as to keep a close eye on the standard of their products
and services.
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Our suppliers are also encouraged to demonstrate corporate social
responsibilities by complying with the relevant codes and business
ethics with respect to business operations, marketing activities,
social contacts and environmental responsibilities. Any form of
bribery is also strictly prohibited by the Group, while confidential
information related to business activities, business structure,
financial status and financial performance etc. should only be
disclosed in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

With a limited number of suppliers in the industry, our strict supplier
selection process and strategic partnership with our suppliers have
given us competitive edge. In this Reporting Year, the Group has
engaged 6 suppliers in Hong Kong, supplying diesel oil and other
materials. Long-term relationship with these suppliers have also
enabled stable supply of products at reasonable prices.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to safeguarding the interests and safety
of the general public. As our core business involves the sales and
transportation of diesel oil, we understand the potential hazards
surrounding our business activities, and we endeavor to mitigate
risks to the best of our ability. Oil tank wagons under the Group
have obtained relevant license from the authority, while safety
hazard labels have been displayed on the vehicles. They are also
under regular checks and maintenance to ensure that they are in
good condition. Vehicles which have failed to pass the checks will
be strictly prohibited from operating. All our drivers are required
to attend mandatory induction training to familiarize themselves
with the operations of oil tank wagons and the safety protocols.
Meanwhile, safety handbook is distributed to all drivers for easy
reference. The Group has continued to place much emphasis on the
importance of safe driving, strictly prohibiting speeding and driving
under the influence.
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With our dedicated effort in upholding the safety standards, we are
pleased to report that there was no material non-compliance with
product responsibility in this Reporting Year.

Quality Control

The Group's diesel oil are sourced only from the list of approved
suppliers, all of which are authorized agents appointed by the Qil
Majors, so that consistent quality of its products can be ensured.
Diesel oil is transported directly from oil depots of our suppliers to
our customers’ premises, which contributes to smoother delivery
logistics.

We are pleased to report that we did not receive any complaints
or claims for compensation from our customers in this Reporting
Year. The Group will continue to implement strict supply chain
management to keep up with its achievement.

Privacy

The Group has established an Internal Guideline on Inside
Information, outlining the regulations and importance of inside
information protection. The guideline has been circulated to all
our employees so that they can familiarize themselves with the
protocols. Employees are strictly prohibited from disclosing any
inside information of the Group both during and after employment,
irrespective of the circumstances of termination. In particular,
pricing of our diesel oil is highly confidential, and our employees
should refrain from activities that may potentially result in leakage
of the information at all times. Failure to comply with the guidelines
would be deemed as severe misconduct, in which the employee
concerned may be subjected to summary dismissal.
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Anti-corruption

All forms of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited by the
Group. Employees should not offer, solicit or accept anything of
material value to or from their colleagues, customers, suppliers
or other business partner of the Group without permission from
the management. This applies to, but is not limited to, both
monetary and non-monetary gifts, loans, fee, reward, employment,
contract and service etc. Moreover, under no circumstances may
a director or employee offer benefits to any person or company
for the purpose of influencing the party in business dealings. The
Group has engaged ICAC to give its senior management training
sessions on business ethics for listed companies. A comprehensive
guide established by the ICAC has also been circulated to all our
employees to ensure thorough understanding of the protocols.
Employees are welcomed to report potential cases of misconduct
through various channels, while the management will take
immediate action to investigate the issue in a serious manner.

We are pleased to report that there was no concluded legal case
in any forms of fraud brought against us or our employees in this
Reporting Year. The Group will continue to adopt the zero-tolerance
approach and stay alert to potential misconduct of its employees.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL - COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group places much emphasis on community investment, and it
has continued to contribute back to the society in which it operates
in.

We have been making monthly donations to World Vision, a
charitable organization aiming to alleviate poverty among children
around the world, as well as promoting public education and raising
public awareness of global issues such as poverty, hunger, public
health and children’s rights. As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s
donation to World Vision amounted to HK$2,640. On top of that,
the Group has also donated HK$500 to ImpactHK, a non-profit
organization that focuses on providing assistance to the homeless
in Hong Kong.

The Group will continue to invest more resources and engage
more employees in community investment, as well as devoting
its resources to areas other than poverty. By doing so, the Group
hopes to encourage its employees to serve and give back to the
community, while promoting corporate social responsibility and
bringing positive impacts to the society.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

With the aforementioned measures and its dedicated effort,
the Group is pleased to report that there was no material non-
compliance with laws and regulations that pose significant impacts
on the Group, including the areas of emissions, employment,
occupational health and safety, labour standards, product
responsibility and anti-corruption in this Reporting Year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL DATA

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
Emissions 2019 2020
HZE2019F  #HZE2020%F
3A31HLFE 3A31MHLEE
Total air emissions RREBMBEE 1,085 2,066  kilogram
=
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx") RELw 989 1,912 kilogram
(INOx J) Fr
Sulphur oxides (“SOx") k=) 2 2 kilogram
(Isox]) Fr
Particulate matter (“PM") B R 94 152 kilogram
(rem1J) TR
Air emission intensity RREWI B E 121 188  Kilogram/vehicle
T,/ W
Total greenhouse gas emissions BERBEEME 296 410  tonnes
7]
Scope 1 — Direct emissions #HE——FE 285 402 tonnes
(from mobile combustion sources) BER (KRB E) 8
KRR )
Scope 2 — Emissions from electricity HE - —FHERE 9 7 tonnes
consumption? B9 Bk e g
Scope 3 Other indirect emissions'® #E = —HEMbEE 2 1 tonnes
HEpo A
Greenhouse gas emission intensity BERBHNEE 33 37  tonnes/vehicle
Wi, 25
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Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

Use of Resources 2019 2020
HZE2019%F EH Z=2020F
3A31HLSE 3A31BLLEE

Total electricity consumption BHHEFEEE 14,053 10,695  kWh
TR
Electricity consumption intensity BENEREE 683 450  kWh/employee
TEEEE
Total water consumption KHERE 35 22 m?
ST K
Water consumption intensity KBEFEEE 3 1 m%employee
MHKEE
Paper Waste REAR 213 150  kilogram
Tr
Paper Waste Intensity RERE S 10 6  kilogram/
employee
TR/EE
° Emission data from the electricity consumption in the previous financial ~ ° BEVBREFENAEEENBBEERBETRES
year has been adjusted with the latest emission factor announced by China ([HRE])AMOEINEFHAEUERZIER
Light and Power (“CLP") in order to present a more accurate data. AETE ) BUE -

0 Emissions data from the electricity used for fresh water and sewage  '©  #B{EBfEUF E B RKK RIS 7KEE IR 8 E 71 6 HE

processing in the previous financial year have been adjusted with the latest HIEDRBKEEREBE LM SBERE T
emission factor announced by Water Supplies Department and Drainage WITTHE LE2E BEENEIE-

Services Department in order to present a more accurate data.
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SOCIAL DATA HERE
Year ended
Employment 31 March
2020
EZ20205F
3A31ALEE
Total employment EEBE 24
Employment by employment type RERBEIEI > HES
full time i 88%
part time i 12%
temporary Ff AR 0%
Employment by gender ZERBE DB ES
Male B 83%
Female g 17%
Employment by age group RERARNEISESR
18-25 18-255% 0%
26-35 26-355% 42%
36-45 36-455% 21%
46-55 46-555% 17%
56-65 56-657%, 20%
Employment by years of serving the Group ERBASEENFHE S ES
under 1 year YN kS 20%
1 -3 years 1-34F 41%
3 -5 years 3-5%F 13%
5 - 10 years 5-10%F 13%
over 10 years Z R 10%F 13%
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Year ended

Employee Turnover Rate P : 31 March

2020

EZ20205

3A31BLLFE

Overall monthly turnover rate BREAMKLE 2%

Monthly turnover rate by gender RMERIEI S ARAE

Male Eogi <1%

Female pegid 10%
Monthly turnover rate by age group IREWA R E| D M Ak =

18-25 18-255% 0%

26-35 26-355% 2%

36-45 36-455%, 3%

46-55 46-555% 2%

56-65 56-655% 1%
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE BERBERSERATNERE HER
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED ERMEESIRBTELIK
Aspects ESG Indicators Description
fE BRIE - -HEREREEZ fil
A. Environmental
A. B
A1: Emissions General Disclosure Information on: 46-53
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
Al R — MR FEBERIRZEREBHER  AKE LGS AF 46-53
NEEEEYNELESH:
(a) B3R &

(b) ETHETABEARZENEMERELRIINE

%o
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. 46-48
BRETEREA BERER RAAEEERBUE - 46-48
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, 49-52

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRBMIERAL2  RERBAHNE (UBEE) &k (@A) BE (1A 49-52
BESEMN SERMTE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 52
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRBMIERAM3 MMELABSEEWEE (UEAE) R (HER)EE 52
(MMABEEEMN SHEEMTE) °
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

fE BRE HBEREA/BE R
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 53

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BREVERAL FELBEZEEYEE (UBFE) R (WER)EE 53
(MANBESEMN FEKXMETE) -

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results 47-53
achieved.

BB MIEIRALS HIUREBERENEREAERER- 47-53

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 52-53
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

FREMIERAIE HAREAELREZERYN L REELSENE 52-53
MR TGRSR
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

[Em BRI -HERERIEE Hal

A2: Use of Resources General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 54-57

energy, water and other raw materials.
2 EREA —PREEE BRERAER (BRERIR KEEMEME) B ER 54-57

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 54-55
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BRETIERA2  RERESHERER SEEER(NE - f3oh) 2 54-55
HE(UBTUTERAE)REE (NABESEE
i~ §IERMEETE) o

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 55-56
production volume, per facility).

FRAMIERA22 BEKERTE (MASEEE( SEREE) - 55-56

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results 54-57
achieved.

FASRAEMIEIRA2.3  FHIREIRE A A & M TS AR - 54-57

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 56

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.

R AE IR IRA2.4 T“‘ it SKERE A KR £ R A (] AR - DA R 3R T+ 7K &K 56
mat Bl RPIFHRR -
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in 56
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.
BREMIEIRA2S HEAmAABEMANES (AE:E) & (WEH) 56
BEESEUGE-
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description
[E BiE HEREREE fl
A3: The Environment General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on 46-57
and Natural the environment and natural resources.
Resources
BRARER —RIKE WEBETAHRBERRAAERERNERTZENBR - 46-57
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 54-57

environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

BRENIEIRAS  HRARBESHREMRAERNERTZE LD RKI 54-57

ERRBTENTY-
B. Social
B. &
B1: Employment General Disclosure Information on: 58-61

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

B1: {Ef&E — MR E T RE BIEERSHF TIERS - RE- 58-61
e Zolh RIEBAREMFEREF:

(o) ETHRTABEAZENHBERNAIINE

e
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group 58
and geographical region.
BREMERERI MR EBERE  FREMNSRE D HES AR - 58
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 61

geographical region.

FRAMIEER1.2 RUR FieAR MRS OWEERKRL R 61
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

EBE RE HERERER Ml

B2: Health and General Disclosure Information on: 62-63
Safety

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

B2 . @EHZE — M= FERELZ2TEREMERERABELEE 62-63
Hy :
(@) BUK: &

(b) BTHBITABEAZENEBERLRIINE

#e

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. 63
MR EREER21 BAIERAEMETHAB KL X 63
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 63
RENERER22 RIBGEXIFEBEEC 63
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 62-63

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
BABAEMIEIRB2.3 RPN R EE T 2 ARMEBHT R 62-63
BERAIE
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Aspects
fETH

B3: Development
and Training

B3 : R RIEI

B4: Labour
Standards

B4 : 35 T X4

ESG Indicators

Description

RS HERERER

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI'B3.1

RS2 48 HE 12 B3.1

KPI'B3.2

BB AE AR 1RB3.2

General Disclosure

—RIWE

KPI'B4.1

BASR AR R FE1RBA.1
KPI B4.2

B BB R 1RBA.2

ey

Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BRARTEERIT TIERE B ME MR BR -
MIFFNEE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

U REERMN (MERERE TREEES)E
SHXINEEB DL -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
RURINEBERE D 2EE KN THE
% o

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

BRAMIEE T ka5 TH :

(@) BUR: &

(o) BFHBETABEAZENHEBEZLROINE
Ao

Description of measures to review employment practices

to avoid child and forced labour.

ft i S R IR E G AR 2 T Kot 55 THHE i -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices

when discovered.
W7 3 3R B R IB R EBR B BB R T ERER A 25 8 o
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description
=] BB HERERER Hl
B5: Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of 65-66
Management the supply chain.
5:iEEER —RIE HIEHEIR IR St & B 1) B IR IR 65-66
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 66
A MIEERS.1  HRbES S HHERSE - 66
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 65-66

number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

PSS E1ER5.2 AR MEEEMIES  mERTEBIEH MK 65-66
ERIEIR  ARBREBEHNRTRER -

B6: Product General Disclosure Information on: 66-67
Responsibility
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

B6 - EmEE — MR BRAMEHERMRGNEERLZ 2 BE REL 66-67
FEBEEA LR ITED
(@) BUR : J2

(b) BTHEITABEATENRBEZNROINE
¥t
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to N/A
recalls for safety and health reasons.
BB MIEIEB6.) CDEXRCEXEmAHTRLZHEEREAMARK NiE
EoRER Nsd
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

[Em BiE deRERIEE Hl

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 67

received and how they are dealt with.

BASRAE IR IEB6.2 EERNEMNRGHIRFEE AR EE T A 67

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and N/A
protecting intellectual property rights.

FRERIEIRB6.3 Mg ERRENBEEEANED - N3 A

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 66-67
procedures.

BRENIEIRR6.4 HIME BT BIR RE MBIKIEFF 66-67

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 67

policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

RASEAEIEIRB6.S  HUUEEH ERHRIE RABBUER - LA RMEBHT & E 67
B Ee
B7: Anti-corruption  General Disclosure Information on: 68

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B7 - RES — MR ER BRP LA - B3R WRF RO RS 68

(b) BTHEITABEATENRBEZNROINE
Ko
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 68
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

BIERARRIEET. RIERMIPOS BT A SR B IR BB M
MREHBA RFRER

5 63

,mu)>
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

& T B HERERER

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 68

procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

RASRAE IR IER7.2 MBI EE M R EWE S ARBRERITRER A 68
B8: Community General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the 69
Investment needs of the communities where the issuer operates

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

B8 #HERE —RIE BRENHRSERTHREEMEHETENERAE 69

BE e g E Rt &Pz AR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 69
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).

BRRABMIEIERS. Y  EHIIEREE (HE REFHE HIFR BE- 69
Mib-888) °

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 69
area.

FRESIEIEB8.2 MAHIBBABAER (NSEHERE) - 69
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on
31 October 2017. The shares of the Company have been listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of placing and public offer on
8 January 2019. In connection with the listing of the Shares on
GEM of the Stock Exchange, the companies comprising the Group
underwent a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”). Pursuant to
the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company
of the subsidiaries comprising the Group on 29 November 2018.
Further details of the Reorganisation are set out in the section
headed “History and Development, Reorganisation and Group
Structure” of the Prospectus.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 11
to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activities
of the Group are the operation of the business of the sale and
transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 and the financial position of the Group as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to
128. The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five years ended 31 March 2020 is set out
on page 204 of this report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Group does not have any future
plans for significant investments or capital assets as at the date of
this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

There were no significant investments, material acquisitions nor
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company’s shares were listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange. A total of 100,000,000 new shares with
nominal value of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at
HK$0.60 per share for a total of approximately HK$60.0 million.
The net proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer,
after deduction of the underwriting commission and related
expenses in connection with the Share Offer, was approximately
HK$34.8 million. The net proceeds, upon receipt by the Company
after Listing, has been deposited at a bank and such net proceeds
will be applied in the manners consistent with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK OVERDRAFT AND BORROWING

No bank overdraft and borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2020.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2020.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 126 and note
20 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company did not have any reserves
available for distribution as calculated in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020 there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2020 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Fenn David
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation at each AGM provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM.
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Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent and meet
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company on 11 December 2018 for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
and shall continue thereafter unless terminated in accordance
with the terms therein. Under the terms of the service contract,
the service contract may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice served by either party on the other. The term
of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company and which may
be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is
subject to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors
as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(other than contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or
its subsidiaries, as applicable within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation).
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee by reference to the benchmarking of
the market. The Company also looks into individual Director’s
competence, duties, responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their responsibilities, workload, time devoted to the
Group and the performance of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 108 to 114 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 March 2020 or at any time during the year ended 31 March
2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
As at 31 March 2020, the Company did not enter into or have

any management and/or administration contracts in respect of the
whole or any principal business of the Company.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Directors
are not aware of any business and interest of the Directors nor the
controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that compete
or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report. The
independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the internal
control measures in relation to managing actual or potential conflict
of interest of the Group have been properly implemented.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 11 December 2018, Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort Group
Limited (“Fully Fort”) (being controlling shareholders of the
Group (the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into a deed
of non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of
the Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to
which each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort has irrevocably and
unconditionally, jointly and severally, warranted and undertaken
with the Company that, immediately upon the Share Offer
becoming unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall procure
each of his/its close associates (”Controlled Persons”) and any
company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr. Law Ming Yik
and Fully Fort (except for the members the Group) (“Controlled
Company”) not to except through any member of our Group,
directly or indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other
or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as
principal or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement and whether for profit
or otherwise), carry on, engage in, invest or acquire or hold any
rights or be interested or otherwise involved in any business that
is similar to or in competition directly or indirectly with or is likely
to be in competition with any business currently and from time to
time engaged by the Group in Hong Kong and any other country
or jurisdiction to which the Group carries on business or grants
franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).
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Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort further undertake that when any
Controlled Persons and/or any Controlled Company is offered or
becomes aware of any new project or business opportunity (“New
Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to engage or become
interested in a Restricted Business, hef/it (i) shall promptly notify
the Company of such New Business Opportunity in writing, refer
the same to the Company for consideration first and provide such
information as may be reasonably required by the Company to
make an informed assessment of such New Business Opportunity;
and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the Controlled Persons
or Controlled Company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity
is declined by our Company, or our Company does not proceed
with such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from
the date of the written notice (of if requested by the Company
in writing, such 30 business days period may be extended to a
maximum of 60 business days), and the principal terms of which
he/it and/or his/its close associates invest or participate in are no
more favourable than those made available to the Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders —
Non-Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus. Mr. Law Ming
Yik and Fully Fort have both confirmed to the Company of his/its
compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition from the Listing
Date up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied by each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort and duly
enforced since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company'’s Listed
Securities

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020 there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or (ii) to be entered into the
register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long position in the shares
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EEpA 51, REmtE igrig- 4= Bt
Mr. Law Ming Yik Interest in a controlled corporation 300,000,000 75%
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Notes:

(1) The entire issued share capital of Fully Fort is legally and beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Law Ming Yik. Fully Fort, in turn, directly holds
300,000,000 Shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Law Ming Yik is
deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 Shares of the Company
which Fully Fort is interested in.

(2)  The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules, notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2020, so far as it is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had or were deemed to have interests in shares or
underlying shares of the Company which (i) were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or (i) which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules, or (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of our Group.
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Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
BE=ns A8 51 ERtE BHEROHBE EREDL
Fully Fort Group Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 300,000,000 75%
(Long position)
2REEARAF ERBERA (HE1) 300,000,000 75%
(tF8)
Notes: Btat -
1. The shares are held by Fully Fort, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZEBRMHBEEEE ERE2EHBERZLELEE

as to 100% by Mr. Law Ming Yik. Mr. Law Ming Yik is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Fully Fort for the purpose of Part XV of
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors have
not been notified by any person who had interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the rules of the
Share Option Scheme conditionally adopted by the resolutions in
writing of all the Shareholders passed on 11 December 2018 (the
“Adoption Date"”). The Share Option Scheme became effective
on the Listing Date. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in
accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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(a)

(b)

(9]

94

Purpose

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to grant
options to subscribe for the Shares (the "Options”) to
any director, employee or officer, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor
to the Company or any of the subsidiaries (the “Eligible
Person”), as incentives or rewards for their contributions to
our Group.

Participants

The basis of eligibility of any person to the grant of any Option
shall be determined by our Board from time to time on the
basis of his or her contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of our Group.

Grant of Options

Our Board shall not offer the grant of Options to any
Eligible Persons after an inside information has come to
our Company’s knowledge until we have announced the
information in accordance with the requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules. In particular, during the period commencing
one month immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the date
of our Board meeting (as such date is first notified to the
Stock Exchange in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules)
for the approval of our Company’s results for any year, half-
year, quarter-year period or any other interim period (whether
or not required under the GEM Listing Rules), and (b) the
deadline for our Company to publish an announcement of
our results for any year, half-year or quarter-year period under
the GEM Listing Rules or any other interim period (whether or
not required under the GEM Listing Rules), and ending on the
date of the results announcement. The period during which
no Option may be granted will cover any period of delay in the
publication of a results announcement.
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(d)

Subject to paragraph (k) below, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted
and to be granted to a participant under the Share Option
Scheme and other schemes (including both exercised and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the Shares from time to time in issue, and
provided that if approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such participant and his or her close associates (or his
or her associates if the participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting, our Company may make a further
grant of Options to such participant (the “Further Grant”)
notwithstanding that the Further Grant would result in the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted and to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes to such participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of the Further
Grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares from
time to time in issue. In relation to the Further Grant, our
Company must send a circular to our Shareholders, which
discloses, amongst other, information from time to time as
required by the GEM Listing Rules, the number and the terms
of the Options to be granted. The number and terms (including
the exercise price) of the Option which is the subject of the
Further Grant shall be fixed before the relevant Shareholders’
meeting and the date of meeting of our Board for proposing
the Further Grant should be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the exercise price.

Exercise Price

The exercise price for any Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by our Board and notified
to each participant and shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant Options; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share on the date of the grant.
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(e) Maximum number of Shares
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(i)

(ii)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit") unless approved by the
Shareholders pursuant to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme or other schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit. On the basis of 400,000,000 Shares in
issue on the Listing Date, the Scheme Mandate Limit will
be equivalent to 40,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be renewed by our
Shareholders in general meeting provided always that to
the extent that the total number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and other schemes under the
Scheme Mandate Limit so renewed must not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of such Shareholders’
approval provided that Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (including
those exercised, outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in
accordance with the terms thereof) shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit
as renewed. In relation to the Shareholders’ approval
referred to in this paragraph (i), our Company shall send
a circular to our Shareholders containing the information
from time to time as required by the GEM Listing Rules.
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(f)

(i) Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
the approval of Shareholders in general meeting, our
Company may also grant Options beyond the Scheme
Mandate Limit provided that Options in excess of the
Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to Eligible
Persons specifically identified by our Company before
such Shareholders’ approval is sought. In relation to the
Shareholders’ approval referred to in this paragraph (iii),
our Company shall send a circular to our Shareholders
containing such relevant information from time to time as
required by the GEM Listing Rules.

(iv) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Options may be
granted by our Company if the maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes in
aggregate exceeds 30% of the Shares in issue from time
to time.

No Option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing Date and up
to 31 March 2020 and thereafter up to the date of this annual
report. Accordingly, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report.

Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the applicable
option period, provided that, amongst others, the period
within which the Option must be exercised shall not be
more than 10 years from the date on which that Option is
deemed to have been granted. The exercise of an Option may
be subject to the achievement of performance target and/
or any other conditions to be notified by our Board to each
participant, which our Board may in its absolute discretion

determine.
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Rights are personal to grantee

An Option shall be personal to the participant and shall not
be assignable or transferable and no participant shall in any
way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest whether legal or beneficial in favour of any third party
over or in relation to any Option. Any breach of the foregoing
by the participant shall entitle our Company to cancel any
Option or any part thereof granted to such Participant (to the
extent not already exercised) without incurring any liability on
our Company.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must
be held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed
by the Board.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
Option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must
be repaid

The Eligible Person shall remit HK$1.00 to our Company as
consideration for the grant upon acceptance of the Option.
The Option shall be offered for acceptance for a period of
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Period of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date, after
which no further Options will be issued but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in all other respects and the Options granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.
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(k)

The Board may impose such terms and conditions on the offer
of Option(s) either on a case-by-case basis or generally as are
not inconsistent with the Share Option Scheme, including but
not limited to the minimum period for which such an Option
must be held, if applicable.

Granting of Options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of our Company or any of their
respective associates

Any grant of Options to any director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of our Company, or any of their
respective associates, must be approved by the INEDs
(excluding any INED who is a proposed participant). If a grant
of Options to a substantial shareholder of our Company or an
INED, or any of their respective associates will result in the total
number of the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted and to be granted (including the
Options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
grant (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other
percentage as may from time to time specified by the Stock
Exchange) of the Shares in issue, and (ii) having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of
each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
Options must be approved by our Shareholders on a poll in a
general meeting. The participant, his or her associates and all
core connected persons of our Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting. Our Company will
send a circular to our Shareholders containing the information
as required under the GEM Listing Rules. In addition,
Shareholders’ approval as described above will also be required
for any change in terms of the Options granted to a participant
who is a substantial shareholder of our Company, an INED or
any of their respective associates. The circular must contain the
following:
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(i) details of the number and terms of the Options (including
the exercise price relating thereto) to be granted to each
Eligible Person, which must be fixed before the relevant
Shareholders’ meeting, and the date of Board meeting for
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date
of grant for the purpose of calculating the Exercise Price;

(i) a recommendation from our INEDs (excluding any INED
who is a proposed participant) to the independent
Shareholders as to voting; and

(iii) all the information as required under the GEM Listing
Rules from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements for the granting
of Options to a Director or chief executive of our Company set
out in this paragraph do not apply where the Eligible Person
is only a proposed Director or proposed chief executive of our
Company.

Equity-Linked Agreement

Save for the share option scheme, no equity-linked agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders
or the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from
the business operated by our Group which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with our Group’s business during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.
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Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Giraffe Capital Limited (" Giraffe Capital’)
to be the compliance adviser. As advised by Giraffe Capital, neither
Giraffe Capital nor any of its directors or employees or close
associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company or
any member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe
for such securities, if any) or otherwise in relation to the Company
which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule
6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the
Company confirms that all of the Directors complied with such
required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from those as disclosed in the paragraph under “Interests
and Short Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and
its Associated Corporation”, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any directors or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable to the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporation.
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Save as disclosed above and as provided in the share option
scheme, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up
to the date of this report was the Company, any of its subsidiaries,
its associated companies or its holding companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of
turnover attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest
customers accounted for 31.6% and 80.4% (2019: 25.3% and
89.8%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the
year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's purchase from the largest
and the five largest suppliers accounted for 44.9% and 99.9%
(2019: 62.4% and 100.0%) of the total purchases of the Group,
respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 March 2020 did
the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of
the Company'’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group's
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

1.

Master Supply Agreement

Pursuant to the supply framework agreement (the
“Agreement”) dated 11 December 2018 and made between
Wing Fung Co. (“Wing Fung”) and Wing Ko Petroleum
Chemistry (China-Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as
Wing Ko Petroleum Chemistry (China-Hong Kong) Limited
("Wing Ko"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the
Group will supply diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid to Wing
Fung for a term commencing from the Listing Date to 31
March 2021 in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.
Since Wing Fung is wholly owned by Ms. Law So Lin, the
aunt of Mr. Law Ming Yik, the Controlling Shareholder of
the Company and an executive Director. Wing Fung is a
connected person of our Company and the transactions
contemplated under the Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Group under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver
from strict compliance with the requirements in respect of the
relevant continuing connected transactions under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

The annual cap (“Annual Cap”) under the Agreement for
the three financial years ending 31 March 2019, 2020 and
2021 is HK$13 million per year. The sell price and terms have
been determined in accordance with the pricing policies and
guideline set out in the Prospectus.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total sale of
diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid to Wing Fung by the Group
amounted to HK$10.0 million (2019: HK$12.2 million). The
continuing connected transactions were entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and on
normal commercial terms.
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Review by the independent non-executive Directors and
Auditors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
in respect of the Agreement, the transactions were carried out
during the year (1) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (2) on normal commercial or better terms; and
(3) according to the Agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

The independent auditors of the Company have performed
procedures on the above continuing connected transactions of
the Company and issued a letter to the Board confirming that:

(1) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe the above continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board;

(2) for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to
their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(3) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to

believe that the above continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the Annual Cap.
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The material related party transactions entered into by the
Group are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements to this report. Save as disclosed above, none of the
related party transactions constituted a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) that was required to be disclosed. All the
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
had complied with the disclosure requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring
a high level of corporate governance standards and will review
and improve the corporate governance practices and standards
constantly. Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020, the
Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code Provisions”) contained
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 41 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the
laws of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
shareholders.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a directors’ liability
insurance was currently in place to protect the Directors against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the
Directors.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 24 employees in Hong Kong
(2019: 24 employees in Hong Kong). The remuneration package
the Group offered to our employees includes salary, bonuses and
other cash subsidies. In general, our Group determines employees’
salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position and
seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess
the performance of our employees, which forms the basis of its
decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its results and financial position can be
found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages
7 to 21 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group strives to operate in compliance with the applicable
environmental protection laws and methods to minimise the
adverse effects of its existing business activities on the environment.
Details of the environmental policies and performance are set out
in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 42 to 82 of this report.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on 20 August 2020, the
notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of the Company
in accordance with the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 17 August 2020 to 20 August 2020, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of
the Company will be registered. Shareholders are reminded to
ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 14 August 2020.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As from 31 March 2020 to the date of this report, save as disclosed
in this report and note 28 of the consolidated financial statements,
the Board is not aware of any significant events requiring disclosure
that have occurred.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March
2020 has been audited by Mazars CPA Limited, who shell retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offered themselves for
re-appointment.

By order of the Board

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED
LAW Ming Yik
Chairman
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Z%:2) ("Mr. Yik Law”), aged 32, is the
executive Director, Chairman, compliance officer, chairman of the
Nomination Committee, member of the Remuneration Committee
and the director of Wing Ko and Forever Treasure Holdings Limited,
being the Group's subsidiaries. He is responsible for overseeing
all aspects of the Group’s operations, strategic planning and
formulation of corporate policies. He was appointed as the Director
on 31 October 2017 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 24 November 2017. Mr. Yik Law is the cousin of Mr. Li
Isaiah, one of the executive Directors.

Mr. Yik Law has over 13 years of experience in the sale and
transport of diesel oil and related products. Mr. Yik Law joined
Wing Ko in July 2006 and was appointed as the director of Wing
Ko in March 2012. He was responsible for overseeing Wing Ko's
daily operation, including but not limited to maintaining stable
relationship with the Group’s key customers and the Group's key
suppliers, which are mainly authorised agent(s) appointed by the
Oil Major(s), monitoring the logistics of projects and managing
its corporate accounting and administrative matters. In 2012, the
government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region started
implementing Euro V vehicle emission standards in phases with an
aim to reduce vehicle emission. Seeing the market potential for
products which would help lower the diesel exhaust emissions from
diesel engines, Mr. Yik Law led the Group to expand the business
into the sale of diesel exhaust fluid as its ancillary product in April
2013. The Directors believe that his insightful vision is instrumental
to the success of the Group.

Mr. Yik Law obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Design majoring in
interior design from Raffles College of Design and Commerce in
August 2009 and an Advanced Diploma in Interior Design in from
Raffles Design Institute in September 2009, in Shanghai, China.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Li Isaiah (Z{&f%) (“Mr. Li"), aged 35, was appointed as
the Director and was redesignated as an executive Director on
24 November 2017. Mr. Isaiah Li is the cousin of Mr. Yik Law, the
controlling Shareholder and the executive Director.

Mr. Li joined the Group in September 2009 and is responsible
for the overall management of its business. He has more than
five years of experience in the area of business administration
and information technology (“IT"). Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Li worked as an IT support in the DBS Bank from July 2004
to December 2004. He had also been an IT support in the Audit
Commission (HKSAR) from January 2005 to June 2005. From
October 2005 to March 2006, he was also a training facilitator in
Bright Long Company, a company principally engaged in tutoring
primary school students. He had also been a sales representative
in Gennett International Limited, a company principally engaged
in sale of electronics, from April 2006 to September 2006. Mr. Li
worked as an IT & Administrative Officer in Million Travel Co., a
company principally engaged in management of carparks from
October 2006 to August 2009.

Mr. Li has obtained a Diploma in Computer Science in Chu Hai
College of Higher Education in July 2006.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

OB EE ([FERE]) 355 BEZEREM
MEEWR2017F11A24BATAERNTES -
TR CEARMPINIZERBRERAITEZESR
ESERRST

FHRAER2009FOAMBAER BEEEBER
ER-FREANIAMEEREMBHE ([EMAR
BESREEAAFER T MBREERH -
o A FR2004F 7 A £2004F 12 A FEERIBTT
(DBS Bank) B EEARI BRI EIIE-RITERN
2005 18 £2005F6 A E BB (BBIFE)
BEEMBHE & TE- 7200510 A £2006
F3H  FHATNVE HBright Long Company T B
BEN - Z AR EEEEREE/NEAE - 722006
FA4AE20065F9H  RITE L EBKBEEER
RAMHEERR ZARNEEEKABETE
o B o ZF 48 A 2006410 B E2009F8 A 7
Million Travel Co.tHE&EMBHE RITHEF %
RANEEEBRIEEISER -

% 45 200647 A RIS B8 BB KA LB 2
OB

B EXPIREEN BN BE=F W EEEE
A EHARIMNES-

MBERARAT 20192020 £ 109



BIOGRAPHIES OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
i

EFERERERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fenn David (F&12{£) (“Mr. Fenn"), aged 39, was appointed
as the independent nonexecutive Director on 11 December 2018.
Mr. Fenn is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Fenn obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Laws and the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by The University of Hong Kong
in December 2002 and June 2003, respectively. He subsequently
obtained a master of laws degree in banking and finance from
University College London, University of London in the United
Kingdom in November 2006. He was admitted as a solicitor of the
High Court of Hong Kong in September 2005, and is currently a
member of the Law Society of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fenn has over 12 years of experience in the legal profession.

Mr. Fenn has a number of governmental appointments and serves
on statutory appeal panels and professional bodies. He has been
a Civil Celebrant of Marriages in Hong Kong since 2015. He is
also a disciplinary panel member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2016 and a member
of the Appeal Panel (Housing) of the Transport and Housing
Bureau of Hong Kong since April 2017, respectively. He is also an
adjudicator of the Registration of Persons Tribunal of Hong Kong
since November 2013.

Mr. Fenn has been appointed as the independent non-executive
director of Stream Ideas Group Limited (Stock Code: 8401), a
company whose shares are listed on GEM, since March 2018.
Further, he was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (Stock
Code: 1082), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, in May 2018.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew (ZZ{&) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 32,
was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 11
December 2018. Mr. Wong is a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Wong has over eight years of experience in corporate finance
and auditing. Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business,
specialised in Accounting, Banking and Finance from Monash
University, Melbourne, Australia in September 2011. He is also
a member of the CPA Australia since January 2016, a member
of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants since
December 2016, and a member of Chartered Global Management
Accountant since December 2016.

Mr. Wong was an auditor in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from September 2011 to November 2013, an auditor in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from December 2013 to March 2017,
the assistant vice president in the investment banking division
of Zhongtai International Capital Limited from March 2017 to
December 2017 and the vice president in the investment banking
division of GF Capital (Hong Kong) Limited from December 2017
to June 2019. He is currently the assistant vice president in the
corporate finance division of Ample Capital Limited. During his
employment with Zhongtai International Capital Limited, GF
Capital (Hong Kong) Limited and Ample Capital Limited. Mr.
Wong executed a wide variety of capital markets and corporate
finance transactions, including initial public offerings, mergers
and acquisitions, equity fund raisings, structured finance and
compliance advisory.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

BERBEE ([EE%E]) 3257 HR2018F 128
MBEZTARMOBYIERTES k4t
BEZZESNEREEEKE -

BAARGEMEREZ T EERBN\FHL
B mAER20NMFIARBRMNBEATHRLT
REBBLTEN B RITRSR-KE
2016 F 1 AN BEMEFTEIAEE 8 - 52016
FRAERARBBHEESHMATEERE
2016F NARAEHEHERESHAEE -

B AR2011F9A E2013F 118 A1EE) o B
=R ERMMITHZEEN R2013F12A &
20173 R ERUKB ST BB ATAZE
Bl FA201743 A E2017912 BIETH HREE
BERARIEERITENERIBE - U ER
201712 AE2019F6 A EEERRE ()
ERARIMIEERITIHBBE - KRR AER
BMEARQACERESHDNEINBR -NE
EEABRPREEREERAR  EERE
(BEB)ERAAINERMEBR AR
BT TEZBEATSROERER S BIEE
RAFREE iR RESE SBERERE
B

B EXPIREEN BN BE=F W EEEE
A EHARIMES-

MBERARAT 20192020 £ 111



BIOGRAPHIES OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
i

EFERERERERE

Mr. Ho Cheung Kong (fA] T ) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 45, was
appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 11
December 2018. Mr. Ho is the chairman of the Audit Committee

and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Ho became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in May 2003 and obtained a Bachelor’s degree
of Commerce in Accounting in Hong Kong Shue Yan University in
November 2008. Mr. Ho subsequently became a practicing member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May
2009. He also became a fellow member and certified tax advisor of
the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in July 2010.

Mr. Ho has over 19 years of experience in the accounting and audit
industry. In particular, he has experience in auditing several listed
companies in Hong Kong. From August 2000 to September 2009,
Mr. Ho was a manager of FTW & Partners CPA Ltd. Mr. Ho was
subsequently promoted in October 2009 and became a Principal
and Director of FTW & Partners CPA Ltd up to present.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Law Sung Fai (Z52#8) ("Mr. S.F. Law"), aged 47, is our
chief operating officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of our Group.

Mr. S.F. Law has joined our Group since July 2006. Mr. S. F.
Law has over 21 years of experience in the business of sale and
transportation of diesel oil. Prior to joining our Group from May
1999 to May 2006, Mr. S. F. Law was the manager of Centre
Transportation Co., a company principally engaging in the business
of transportation of diesel oil, and was responsible for managing,
repairing and maintaining its fleet of tank wagons and its business
operations.
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Ms. Mo Yan Ting (E& %) (“Ms. Mo"), aged 51, is our chief
financial officer and is responsible for the general financial
management of our Group. Ms. Mo has joined our Group since
October 2017.

Ms. Mo obtained a Diploma in Business from the Auckland
University of Technology in October 2000. She subsequently
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business in Accounting also
in Auckland University of Technology in April 2003. Ms. Mo
completed the graduate conversion course in accounting in the
Sydney University of Technology in December 2006. Since January
2007, she has been a member of the CPA Australia.

Ms. Mo has over 22 years of experience in the accounting industry,
especially with presence in Australia. From May 1997 to February
2003, she worked in Westpac Bank New Zealand in Auckland and
her last position was an accountant assistant. From April 2003
to June 2005, she was an accountant at Longway Industrial &
Development Pty Ltd in Sydney. She then worked as an accountant
in Western Union Financial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd in Sydney
from June 2005 to June 2007. Later, she moved her accounting
practice back to Hong Kong. From August 2007 to March 2013,
she was an accountant manager at Greatsino International (HK) Ltd.
From April 2013 to August 2017, she was an accountant manager
at O’Laughlin Corporation Ltd in Hong Kong.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai ( 2{£%# ) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 36, was
appointed as the company secretary of our Group on 24 November
2017.

Prior to his appointment with our Group, Mr. Leung has
accumulated over 12 years of experience in the accounting, audit,
tax and company secretary fields. In June 2007, he joined FTW &
Partners CPA Limited, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as an
accountant trainee. In August 2008, Mr. Leung served in Pearson
Fearn & Co., an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their senior
accountant. In August 2013, Mr. Leung joined AE Majoris CPA
& Co, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their audit principal
and was promoted to audit partner in March 2016 and AE
Majoris Advisory Limited, a firm principally engaged in provision
of corporate advisory services, and his last position was senior
manager. In July 2017, Mr. Leung joined Alchemist Corporate
Advisory Limited, a company engaged in provision of corporate
advisory services, and was appointed as the executive director.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
in Accounting from the Open University of Hong Kong in December
2007 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since May 2012.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Law Ming Yik is an executive Director and the compliance
officer of the Company. His biographical details and qualification
are set out on page 108 of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R

MAZARS

To the members of
Sun Kong Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sun Kong
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 123 to 203, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2020, and of its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Mazars CPA LIMITED

hERE (W) ERhiigR R pa A
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
7V VAT IV 1 8 9 Th BRI 424
Tel #7: (852) 2909 5555

Fax 4 F.: (852) 2810 0032

Email 7 %: info@mazars.hk

Website 81l www.mazars.hk
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BIAZRBENEE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BRETEE

RRFEITEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETNAEERRETEE

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables

ESERFEANEEESE ([RAGEERE]) WEBREE

Refer to Notes 2, 14 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

R A ERENZ2 14524 -

At 31 March 2020, the net carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$55,071,000
(2019: HK$37,624,000), which approximated 81%
(2019: 54%) of the Group's total assets. Loss allowance
provision for trade receivables was approximately
HK$1,263,000 (2019: Nil).

20203 HA31B - BESZRERERE FER
55,071,000/ 7T (20194 : 37,624,000/ 7T ) » H 4
R BEBEEELERSI% (2019F:54% ) B E
Wk IB R B 1B R 40 51,263,000/ 7T (20194F « &) -

Management assessed the provision for ECL of trade
receivables based on the historical default rate, and is
adjusted for forward-looking estimates, such as expected
significant changes in general economic environment
and the business operation of the Group.

EREEANELENXRTGEZRKFENTEHRES
BEZEE WA IEEAIEL AR BEEER
BREN BEEEXKEENAREAR

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter due to the application of significant judgements
by the management over assessing the credit standing of
the Group’s customers and therefore the estimation of
ECL of trade receivables.

BMEH L FERERRARETEE DEEEE
Rttt EEEEFNERNL LB EE S RN
MR REE BB ERE R -

Our key audit procedures included:

AZBMNIZEETFEE:

e understanding, through enquiry with the
management, the established policies and
procedures on credit risk management of trade
receivables;

e AHEBENTHREZIREFEGERRERZ
BEEB R MR

e assessing and evaluating the design of controls
with respect to the identification of receivables with
overdue or default payments; and

o FPAZ N AT B TE B8 HA S HE R AN A FE R
B H 2 RET &

e  assessing management’s judgement over the ECL
and creditworthiness of the customers by assessing
the available information, such as background
information of the customers, past settlement
records of the customers, concentration risk of
customers, the Group’s actual loss experience and
subsequent settlement of the trade receivables.

. LL%HT?%Mﬁﬂﬂwﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬂ~ﬁﬁﬂ

EHEETH TRPNETAR SEEENER
E%T@i“%ﬁZiffé%f‘H& AIBHEBEEES LT
BEUAREEERELREFEENHE-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZRBENEE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2020 annual report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

EERA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZRBENEE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

BREMRET GRS BRERNEE(E)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law and
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 June 2020

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Fung Shiu Hang

Practising Certificate number: P04793
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEEZEWMER

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

Notes
Kt
Revenue Uk = 4
Cost of sales $HE R A
Gross profit ER
Other income E A A 5
Administrative and other operating TR RAMEERE
expenses
Impairment loss on trade receivables & 5) fE W R IE HY R (B &5 18
Finance costs B & AR 6
Expenses for the Initial Listing BAXLETHRAX
Profit before tax BRBE AR 6
Income tax expenses FTSBiR 7
Profit (Loss) and total FERMN(BE)R
comprehensive income THWE (BR) AR
(loss) for the year
Earnings (Loss) per share BEREF (EBER) 10
Basic - IN
Diluted g

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
351,113 474,236
(338,464) (454,425)
12,649 19,811
522 230
(9,791) (8,896)
(1,263) =
(135) (181)
- (9,538)

1,982 1,426
(283) (1,605)
1,699 (179)

HK cents &1l

0.42

HK cents 761l

(0.06)

0.42

(0.06)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBRRR

At 31 March 2020 R202093531H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Deposit paid for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Current assets

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Tax recoverable

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Lease liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

NET ASSETS

Notes
oKz
ERBEE
R =N 12
THREEME  BE K
RIEFT RS
FREEE 13
REEE
=) L& 14
H {th i U 518 15
A Yz B 7 18
RITEHBEIRS
REaE
B 5 R FRE 16
H {th J& < 518 17
HEARE 13
RBEERE
EEHAERRBAE
kRBEE
EERRIBE & 18
HEAE 13
BEZRE
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2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FHEIT
6,443 2,991
2,270 2,040
665 =
9,378 5,031
55,071 37,624
1,243 1,031
1,527 517
626 25,559
58,467 64,731
1,844 7,018
1,893 1,366
414 =
4,151 8,384
54,316 56,347
63,694 61,378
719 416
314 =
1,033 416
62,661 60,962




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEEMBRAR

At 31 March 2020 R2020F3H31H

Capital and reserves BEXRFE
Share capital [N
Reserves f#
TOTAL EQUITY Y k]

These consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to 203 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24
June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

LAW Ming Yik
EA=

Director

EF

2020 2019

20205 20194

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
/oka FAET FEIT
19 4,000 4,000
58,661 56,962

62,661 60,962

BN 123E203H MZ S 46 MSHRERE 12020

FOA2AREEFSH ERRETIE X H T

EEREXEE:
LI Isaiah
Z= %o
Director
EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEDmBHR

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

Reserve
i
Share Share Capital Accumulated
capital premium reserve profits Total Total
BREA  RORE EARE  RiEA st @t

HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET FAET FET

(Note 19)  (Note 20()) ~ (Note 20(b))

(Hiit19)  (Wit20m)  (Hzt200))

At 1 April 2018 R201854H 1R - - 10 12,321 12,331 12,331
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year  F E 518 &2 HE 18 850 - - = (179) (179) (179)
Transactions with owners: BEBANRS:
Capitalisation issue of shares (Note 79(c)) BRiDEARMCET (H5#190) 3,000 (3,000) - - (3,000) -
Issue of shares by share offer RiBR O EERTRG

(Note 19(d) (B7t19()) 1,000 59,000 - - 59,000 60,000
Transaction costs attributable to BORNDEGERZKA

issue of shares (Note 79(d) (Hii£19(d) - (11,190) - - (11,190) (11,190)
Total transactions with owners for theyear ~ FERBEEANZ HH 5 4,000 44,810 - - 44,810 48810
At 31 March 2019 M2019%3A318 4,000 44,810 10 12,142 56,962 60,962
At 1 April 2019 R2019%4A818 4000 44810 10 12,142 56,962 60,962
Profit and total comprehensive FERNREZANRBE

income for the year - - - 1,699 1,699 1,699
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31A 4,000 44,810 10 13,841 58,661 62,661
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHRERER

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Finance costs

Interest income
Impairment loss on trade receivables
Changes in working capital:

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Trade payables

Other payables

Cash used in operations
Interest received
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

REEH
B 35 A1 st A
EREEENE

BERAK

M A

B 5 I WA )R (B 5 1R
HEETRY:

B 5 B EIR

H fth & Y 3R IR

B 5 R 50R
Hfth &1 FRIA

REMARS
B W AE
EfFE
BT EH

REZBMARSFE

REZEH
BEYE BELERE

Deposit paid for acquisition of property, #UIEDE  BE &

plant and equipment

REMNZES

Net cash used in investing activities R&EE fTHARLFE

Notes

g3

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,982 1,426
399 =
1,976 1,822
135 181
(48) (177)
1,263 =
(18,710) (22,547)
212) 1,955
(5,174) 2,340
527 88
(17.862) (14,912)
48 177
(91) (181)
(990) (2,670)
(18,895) (17,586)
(3,388) (901)
(2,270) (2,040)
(5,658) (2,941)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEBHERER

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203531 H 1 F/&

FINANCING ACTIVITIES A& EE

Repayment of bank loan ERIRITER

Repayment of obligations under BERMEMERE
finance leases

Proceeds from issue of shares BITRMAAIERIA

Payment for transaction costs BITIRID BIE R S B
attributable to issue of shares (VB

Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE

Net cash (used in) from financing ®EEE (FrH) Fi8
activities HEFHE

Net (decrease) increase in cashand BERBEELZEY CHL)
cash equivalents B nFEE

Cash and cash equivalents atthe FHEHANEER
beginning of the reporting period R&ZEY

Cash and cash equivalents BEBARRER
at the end of the reporting REeEEEY:
period, represented by bank ERITEHRRERAS

balances and cash
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Notes

HiiE

21

21
19(d)

19(d)
21

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
- (3,672)
- (2,208)

- 60,000
- (11,190)

(380) =
(380) 42,930
(24,933) 22,403
25,559 3,156
626 25,559




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sun Kong Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 31 October 2017 under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands and its shares were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 8 January 2019. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business is situated at 20/F., Glassview Commercial Building,
No. 65 Castle Peak Road Yuen Long, Yuen Long, New
Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in sales of diesel oil, steam
coal and related products in Hong Kong. The details of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Pursuant to the group reorganisation to rationalise the group
structure for the initial listing of the shares of the Company
(the “Reorganisation”), the Company acquired the entire
equity interests in the companies now comprising the Group
from Mr. Law Ming Yik (the “Ultimate Controlling Party”).
The Reorganisation was completed on 29 November 2018
and since then, the Company became the holding company
of the companies now comprising the Group (the “Combined
Entities”).

—REH

HBZERARLQR (IRRAFE])NR2017F
10A31 B RERSHEEME2ERADE
(1961 F FE350EM - Kixa REFT) EFR S
HETMKLREREER AR RERKRSD
20191 ASHRN B AMERSMERR
&) (B PT]) GEM_ETH o AR ARy sE it i
E g ik A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands » & 2 & i Bh i R B EFT
ATATILARITMARS R REAFEARNE
2012 -

ARAMEBEXRBRBERER - AEEE
EREBRELE B HRIAABEERD
HE - MBARFBERRES MR
EANIC

ETEGEE

BEEBERATIRNEXALTMERSEE
REFTETHNEEEA ([E4A]) AR F
BREEZAE ([REERT]) KIERE
HARASEBEN A RN RE EHE R
2018F 11 A298 Ak Bt - AR BIK &
AR AEBN AR ([AHEE]) /T
i e/NI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.

130

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Combined Entities and the Company are under the
common control of the Ultimate Controlling Party prior to and
after the Reorganisation, and that control is not transitory.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2020 and the comparative information
for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been prepared
using the principles of merger accounting in accordance with
Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™).

The consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statements of changes in equity and the
consolidated statements of cash flows of the Group for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 have been prepared
on the basis as if the current group structure has been in
existence since 1 April 2018, or since the respective dates
of incorporation or establishment, where there is a shorter
period.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$ "), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2019 consolidated financial statements, except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2.

TESHBE (&
EREBH(A)

A MBmRABIT ([EBT]  MAARRTR
MIEEE®) 27 -BmEMEIN FER
MY BESKEION T

RAHE RIETERUBREER

ZEREMEBRRIDIBIEE2019FK 4
MBMERIRMNZ ST R R EER
2 ERMEREEERA AN FRERER
ZHE MG BB R E LRI

2015-2017 Cycle

BN BHRELR 2 FEE 20155 £20175 A H
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
TR (AR BHREZREEES) PRSI 1L B9 BE 38

— R EE235%
Amendments to HKAS 19

Employee Benefits

B GTTERFE1SRET A BERN

Amendments to HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

BB G ERE28RIEFT A REERFIRSERFIZKRE

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
BBU B MELERNFESRERT A HAMEZERER

HKFRS 16 Leases

BRI HRE LR FE165% HE

Apart from the impact on adoption of HKFRS 16 as set out
below, the adoption of those new and revised HKFRSs has no
material impact on the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior years and does not result in any
significant change in accounting policies of the Group.
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FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.

132

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 and related Interpretations for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. It
significantly changes, among others, the lessee accounting
by replacing the dual-model under HKAS 17 with a single
model which requires a lessee to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for the rights and obligations created
by all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. For lessor accounting,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to
classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to
account for those two types of leases differently. HKFRS 16
also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessees
and lessors.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time at 1 April 2019 (i.e.
the date of initial application, the “DIA") using the modified
retrospective approach in which comparative information
has not been restated. Instead, the Group recognised
the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an
adjustment to the balance of accumulated profits or other
component of equity, where appropriate, at the DIA.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FESHBE (&)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group also elected to use the transition practical expedient
not to reassess whether a contract was, or contained, a lease
at the DIA and the Group applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
to contracts entered into or changed on or after the DIA that
are identified as leases applying HKFRS 16.

As lessee

Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, lease contracts were
classified as operating or finance lease in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies applicable prior to the DIA.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group accounted for the
leases in accordance with the transition provisions of HKFRS 16
and the Group’s accounting policies applicable from the DIA.

As lessee — leases previously classified as operating leases

The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases previously classified as operating leases at the DIA,
except for leases for which the underlying asset is of low value,
and the Group applied the following practical expedients on a
lease-by-lease basis.

(@) Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As lessee — leases previously classified as operating leases
(Continued)

(b) Excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the
right-of-use assets at the DIA.

(©) Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the
lease.

At the DIA, right-of-use assets were, on a lease-by-lease basis,
measured at either,

(@) their carrying amount as if HKFRS 16 had been applied
since the commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the DIA; or

(b) an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the lease recognised immediately before the
DIA.

The financial impact at the DIA and for the current year is as
follows:

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate at the DIA. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities at the
DIA is 4.8%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Reconciliation of operating lease commitments disclosed
applying HKAS 17 at 31 March 2019 and lease liabilities
recognised at the DIA is as follows:

TESREE &)

RN RIETNE MR ERER
(%)

BB BHEERE165HE ] ()
R2019F3A31HERE B 21 2£RIFE17
SRR 2 ST EAEE N X E A B
BRAZEEAENYERNT

At 1 April 2019

A2019%F481H
HK$ 000
FET
Operating lease commitment at 31 March 2019 20193 A31A A& E
as disclosed in the Group's consolidated AV BHRREENLCEHEEFAIE
financial statements 240
Discounted using incremental borrowing 193% R2019F4H1HHAY
rate at 1 April 2019 SEERMERR 236
Extension options reasonably certain éﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂﬂiﬁ@%ﬁ*ﬁ%%%
to be exercised 828
Total lease liabilities recognised under R20195F4 A1 B R IBE BB I 5 WS 2R
HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 FlenERNHERERE 1,064

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group in preparing the consolidated financial statements is set
out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation/combinations

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated/combined from the date on which the Group
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Merger accounting for common control combinations

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
combined using the existing carrying values from the Ultimate
Controlling Party’s perspective. No amount is recognised as
consideration for goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in
the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common
control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the
Ultimate Controlling Party’s interest. All differences between
the cost of acquisition (fair value of consideration paid) and the
amounts at which the assets and liabilities are recorded have
been recognised directly in equity as part of the capital reserve.
The consolidated financial statements include the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from the date
of incorporation/establishment or since the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of
the common control combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation/combinations (Continued)

Merger accounting for common control combinations
(Continued)

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration fees,
costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs or losses
incurred in combining operations of the previously separate
businesses, etc., incurred in relation to the common control
combination that is to be accounted for by using merger
accounting, are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the elements of control.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position which is
presented in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Leasehold improvements 5 years/over the unexpired
term of lease, whichever is

shorter
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the year in
which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured at their
transaction price.
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2.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii)
equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its
business model for managing them, in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first
annual reporting period, where appropriate, following the
change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both

of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment
derecognition or through the amortisation process are
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include trade
and other receivables and bank balances and cash.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

FTESTHE(#

€RIA (&)

EBUBHREEREIRBR cHEERR
b5 B 496 15

AEBEHRBEEBU G ME LR FEIRER
BERENREHRRATENSREEN
EHEEEE ([RMEEER]) BRER
B - REREAH HMZBAZREENE
SRk B HERARE AL N AR
SEERASNFENRNEEERENER
AEERMEENEREGE HNEREEDN
1= B R B 1) 2 R 58 DA SR I 8 A0 48 o0 -
AIREBRBEN 12 AFEREEFED
THIEXHEMEENERRERE-

BHIEEERAE

BHEERERYER T AR FHAE
BB R g (A RS ER
MIR{E) °

REMEEMS FEBERREANE
NERNENRSREEERRBKIIN
BeREMEEmMEAE-

FEMBHEEERENSR T AEYF
HRRENMAEARENSEHMERNTE
HEEEBE mM2EARREEEEER
Hipt iy B BA1R 1218 B A AT RE 3 A HOE 4
BN FEREREEESE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument'’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss

with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of
the financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.

144

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information is
taken into account in the assessment:

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in external
credit rating of the debtors;

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligations;

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and/or

e significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the
payment status of the debtors in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the debtors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME
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2.

146

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credlit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

As detailed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, other receivables and bank balances and cash are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #tZ2020F3/31H i F/&
2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRM:E
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2.

148

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

Nature of goods or services
The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is

sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products in Hong
Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identify
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.

150

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as
legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer
acceptance.

Sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products are
recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the
control of the promised asset, which generally coincides with
the time when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title is passed.

Ancillary transportation service income is recognised over time
when services are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credited-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-
impaired financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.

152

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements is presented in the currency of HK$, which is also
the functional currency of the Company, and rounded to the
nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to determine
whether there is any indication that property, plant and
equipment, deposits and right-of-use assets and the
Company'’s investments in subsidiaries may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows
independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

2.

TESREE &)

HttEERE (&

HMARBEGFRAEESRSELENMN
Ak meBEMENEREE MZBEE
IRTELBEUNERESE THRAZEAK
[l & 88 o M EE BRI R N B N TR A F
Fo

FEgmeREBBENZREEXREESE
5 7 1 DAFE BA ) I 8 HE 2R R (E B 1R T IR 8
B F 1 BR [ B AR < 8 (B B 18 1 @ Bl R
B PR AUA

& TR A

WiE ZEILEREREE (AIFE—R
BRERSEEEEREAEGIEEZE
BE) ZERBIEERRA - EMEREE SR
ZIEFMEREREZRERAL HER
CEZFEERAZ D REFEE
AR EAEERER gL ER Z5E
FRAK & FIEEARL - Fr A E A E T
ARG E L IR R B

BEERAR AT 20192020 5 153



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.

154

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Applicable from 1 April 2019

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the commencement date of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use asset for 3 years.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at

the commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(©) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate

implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee,
the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other
than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future lease
payments resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the
Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount
rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable before 1 April 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

As lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement
of financial position as finance lease obligation. Finance
charges, which represent the difference between the total
leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired,
are charged to profit or loss over the term of the relevant
lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting
period.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Lease incentives are recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased
asset. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When a
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where a
grant relates to an asset, the Group recognised in full as other
income to profit or loss in the year of grant if the amount
is immaterial instead of recognised as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset and released to profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments. The directors of the Group considered that
the effect of the recognised amount to profit or loss over the
expected useful life is immaterial.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of

non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.
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2.

160

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the scheme prior the contributions
are vested fully in those employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

Long service payments

The Group's net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods. The obligation
is calculated using the projected unit credit method and
discounted to its present value and after deducting the fair
value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme
benefits.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill, or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to

the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of

the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:
(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes

subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2.

164

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
Group's most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables by using various inputs and assumptions
including but not limited to risk of default. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the
Group's historical information, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables. Details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Depreciation

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment on the
straight-line basis over the respective estimated useful lives
as set out above, with the depreciation charge commencing
from the date an item of the property, plant and equipment
is available for use. The estimated useful life reflects the
management'’s estimate of the periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group's
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for current year, which the

Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8

ERGTERNB 1R REB ST ERESHREFT A

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 7 and 9

ER G ERFE39 BEMBMELERNETH K
BN BHmELEREIREFT AR

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BRI BHRELRBEIFREFT R

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BBV E LA E165EFT AR

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EBYBRELEBFE10HELE B ST
F28FRIEFT A

2. FEETBE (£

ERMBEHRELEANRRES

RULEHAMBRRFEDS E58t
B A8 B AR A TR 4E 1 R A S LK
£ B3 48 R AR B ET RIS ST B B
e T

Definition of Material /
BRAMZER

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform ’
FRE R

Definition of a Business ?

2 ER

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions ?

Covid-19MHEAN & B F°

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture 4

REEHEABENRHEGERRIZEZ
BEHEITE?

T 202041 A1 B k2 18 AR EE EIR A K

2 20201 A1 B2 & B R E EFE ERE
2B EWER AN

3 202056 A1 B3k 2 & Fis R E B AR

4 EWHBEE

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

- The effective date to be determined

BETRE NARREBRERMF ] BER
BEMGREENHAEERETSAE
MEATE-

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/
revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material impact
on the results of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group
has only one operating and reportable segment throughout
the year, as the Group manages its business as a whole which
is the sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products in
Hong Kong. The sales of diesel oil and related products services
include sourcing diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid through oil
trading companies, dispatching the fleet of diesel tank wagons
of the Group to collect diesel oil from oil depots designated
by the suppliers of the Group, and eventually delivering diesel
oil to destinations designated by the customers of the Group.
The sales of steam coal services including sourcing steam coal
and arrange the delivery service. The executive directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision-makers of
the Group, regularly review the internal financial reports on
the same basis for the purposes of allocating resources and
assessing performance of the Group.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong Kong. All of
the Group's revenue from external customers during the year
is derived from Hong Kong and all of the Group's assets and
liabilities are located in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 £ Z2020%F3/531H 1FF/Z
3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from customers individually contributing 10% or

more of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended
31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

DEBE R (&)
EBRETEEFMNESR
B RE 220204 K2019E3 8318 [ FE

fE 516 A 2 B UL 55 10% 30 A BBV R P 7F
BT

HKS$000
FET

Year ended 31 March 2020 B ZF2020F3A31HLLFE
Customer A ZPEA 111,082
Customer B ZFEB 89,042
Customer C 2HEC 38,235
238,359
HK$000
FETT

Year ended 31 March 2019 BZE2019F3A31HLLFE
Customer D =FD 119,926
Customer C BEC 113,053
Customer B =FB 111,636
Customer A ZEA 68,979
413,594
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

4. REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15

Recognised at a point in time
Sales of diesel oil

Sales of diesel exhaust fluid

Sales of steam coal

Recognised over time

Ancillary transportation service

BERMBHREER
BISHEFEHWE

TR 1 iy 8 B i B2

SemSHE R
BERKEHER
BN R SHE R

BERS MR
e £33 & IR 75

All the revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS

15 arises in Hong Kong.

5. OTHER INCOME

Bank interest income
Government grants (Note)

Sundry income

RITHB WA
BT FEBh (Hfet)
FETEWA

Note: Government grants were the government'’s incentive subsidies in
relation to replacement of motor vehicles with lower environmental
engines under the ex-gratia payment scheme in Hong Kong during

the year.
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2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
348,326 473,609
586 562
2,033 —
350,945 474,171
168 65
351,113 474,236
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

6.

170

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

Finance costs

Finance charges on interest-bearing
borrowings

Finance charges on obligations under
finance leases

Interest on bank overdrafts

Interest on lease liabilities

Staff costs
(including directors’ emoluments)
Salaries and other benefits
Contributions to defined contribution
schemes

Other items
Auditor’s remuneration
Cost of inventories (Note)
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment:
Cost of sales
Administrative and other
operating expenses
Depreciation of right-of-use assets:
Administrative and other operating
expenses

6.

R
SEBRnRE R

MEREAENREEN

RITEXHE
HERENE

BT A
(BREEEMSE)

e R E AR R

FUTE AR 8 2 1R

HftHE

A% BRI

FEKA (HiZ)

WE BB RRBITE:

3 & A A
TR R B 25 s

EREEENE:
TBEREMEERX

Note: Cost of sales included approximately HK$4,829,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$4,540,000), which relating to the
aggregate amount of certain staff costs, depreciation, license fee,

repair and maintenance and transportation expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

TAXATION

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s
entities established in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") are exempted from income tax.

For the years ended 31 March 2020, Hong Kong Profits Tax
has not been provided as the Group had no assessable profits
for the year.

For the years ended 31 March 2019, the assessable profits of
a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the Group (as elected
by the management of the Group) are subject to the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime that the first HK$2,000,000
of assessable profits will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. As only
one of the subsidiaries in the Group is eligible to elect the two-
tiered profits tax rates, profits of the remaining subsidiaries of
the Group will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Current tax BNEA % 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBENEH
Current year REE
Over provision in prior year BT FEBERE
Deferred tax EEBLIR
Origination or reversal of temporary TR ERENESEED
difference (Note 18) (K1i£18)
Income tax expenses PR 2

BIR

HE2020%F K201953A31B IEEE - R
HERENEBREREES ([(ABRERE
ENRYMNAEBETEREREHMNTE
Rt o

HE2020F3A31H IEFE - AR AEER
ZEEVERBRB N W EFIRES
ISR e -

HZE2019F3A31HLFE  A&B—FKK
EBEMKLIZHMBAR (BAEEER
JE kiR ) 1) FE SR BER TR F 13 B M AR 1 4
i+ BN &2,000,0007% 7T #) F& 37 i b3 71 1 3%
8.25%H) i X S 7% - #2i82,000,0007% JT &Y
FE SRR F 12 16.5% KT REHT - AME
E—RAKEWB ARG ERBRANEH
KR AR AR B E AR B A F R R A
HHEB IR — T E16.5% B

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

- 1,652
(20) (30)

(20) 1,622
303 (17)

283 1,605
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

172

TAXATION (Continued)

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

Profit before tax

Income tax at applicable tax rate
Non-deductible expenses

Tax exempt revenue

Effect on tax concession

Over provision in prior year

Income tax expenses for the year

BiE(E)

FriS % B X ¥ BR
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Br £ B VA 1,982 1,426
RiEARETENTER 327 235
AT HIBR A B 52 68 1,594
R (92) (29)
HEBR T E - (165)
BEFEREEEE (20) (30)
FRATEHFEX 283 1,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

8. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 8.

REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and
receivable by the directors and chief executive of the
Company during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019 are set out below.

EE BRETHRABRESNZMH

(a) EERBRSTHRABNHMH

#H E2020% K2019%F3A318 IEF
B -ARREZER&EEITERABE K

Ko B W B AR B S 4 T ©

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z2020F3H31H It FE
Contributions
to defined
Directors’  Salaries and Discretionary contribution
fees  allowances bonus plans Total
REMAGE
ExHe HEREW BERA A #st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Law Ming Yik BAERE - 650 - 18 668
Mr. Li lsaiah FRMERE - 520 - 18 538
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Fenn David BEERE 72 - - 5 77
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong ARIEE 72 - - 5 77
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew BRELE 72 - - 5 77
216 1,170 - 51 1,437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

8. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 8.

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

EE RETHRAEBREENFHH
(%)

() EERESTHRABNEHEM (Z)

HZE2019F3A31HILFE

Contributions
to defined

Directors’  Salariesand  Discretionary  contribution
fees allowances bonus plans Total
RE G E
EEHe HEkER [RlEpra AR @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Law Ming Yik BRERE - 497 34 18 549
Mr. Li lsaiah FROMEEE - 407 30 17 454
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Fenn David BEELRE 18 - - - 18
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong ARIEE 18 - - - 18
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew BRELE 18 - - - 18
54 904 64 35 1,057

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of these directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or
as a compensation for loss of office. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

8. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 8.

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Employees’ remuneration

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Director e
Non-director JFE=S

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid
non-director individuals are as follows:

Salaries and allowances and
benefits in kind
Contributions to defined

e RRMEREDNS

FUE FARE 8 2 K

contribution plans

EE BRETHRABRESNZMH
(%)

(b) EEAIEM

#H E2020%F K2019E3A31R ILEE
REZZEHFMALTHITAT

Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
20205 20194
2 2
3
5 5

i &S HMIFESE A LTNFHBFIS

N
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,371 1,729
54 54
1,425 1,783
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FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203531 H 1 F/&

8.

9.

176

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Employees’ remuneration (Continued)

The number of these non-director individuals whose
emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is
as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007% 7T

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no remuneration
was paid by the Group to any of these highest paid non-
director individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of
office. There was no arrangement under which any of
these highest paid non-director individuals waived or has
agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended 31
March 2020 (2019: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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8. EEX BRETBRAERESENHMH

(b) EEWHM(Z)

MeBRATHMEHRENZEZIHES
ALTEIAZIT

2020 2019
20204 20194
3 3

BHZE2020F3A31H IEFE  ANEES
ErEANZEEaFTMEETALTE
REMREHB - ERMARE B SR
AREE BN REXBERE -BE
202053 A31 B IEFE - WE AR ZE
R MIEES AT HEXRENE
EAIB &8 =B (20195F - &) °

iz 2

H £20209F K2019F3A31H IEFE - &
ANaBER N EIRERAR S ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

10. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share is based
on the following data:

23 (BE)

Earnings (Loss)
Profit (Loss) for the purpose of calculating

i ) (E518)

basic earnings (loss) per share

R E

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
(E18) & @Az Nt
FHH

shares, for the purpose of calculating
basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share

For 2019, the weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share has been
determined on the assumption that the Reorganisation and
capitalisation issue as disclosed in notes 19(b) and 19(c) to the
consolidated financial statements had been completed on 1
April 2018.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is the same as basic earnings
(loss) per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
shares outstanding during years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

10.

AEERERRR (BE)D

AAEERERLETRN

BRER (BR)

FREREN (BR) DA TR E -

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
1,699 (179)
400,000,000 322,739,725

20195 A EEREREEN L ER
INIEFHHE BRERE M SRR EE19(b)
RIOME B EHREARLETER
2018F4 R 1 H K MEE °

BN E 220209 K2019F3H31H IEFE
BEEZEITEIIMBEEE L AR HER
oA (EE) BERERNET (FE)

GEE
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FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

11. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are

as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MEAR AR

Directly held by the Company

FNREERE

Forever Treasure Holdings Limited

KEERBBRAR
Winner Group Worldwide Limited

Ever Star Industrial Limited

Indirectly held by the Company

FAEEEEE

Wing Ko Petroleum Chemistry
(China-Hong Kong) Limited

KBAAET (F8)BRAH

Joyous Treasure Group Limited

Wing Ho International

Development Limited

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
ML

FR L 1t 26

BVI

REBRELHS
BVI

RBERZHS
BVI

i

BRI ES

Hong Kong

V)

Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

BB

Date of
incorporation/

establishment
HEmRL
B BH

14 November 2017

20174115 14H
8 April 2019

201954 A8H
3 June 2019

201996 A3H

18 December 2002

200212 A18H

10 April 2019

201944108
4 June 2019

20196 A4H
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1. B AT

RBEHRZHB AR FIBHEIIWOT :

Attributable
Particulars of equity interest
paid up capital/ held by the
registered capital Company
HMERE EAREEW
EMEARFE P& {t B #E
United States 100%

Dollar ("US$")10

1057t ([%7T])
us$10 100%
1057
us$10 100%
[ E
HK$10,000 100%
10,0007 7T
HK$100 100%
10078 7T
HK$100 100%
1008 7T

Principal activities/
place of operation
TEEK
EE MY

Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REZR B
Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER B
Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REZR B

Sales of diesel oil and
related products/Hong
Kong

SO RERERMEE
S EE

Sales of steam coal/
Hong Kong
PHRNOEE BB

Inactive

VT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Reconciliation of carrying amount -
year ended 31 March 2019

At the beginning of the reporting period

Additions

Depreciation

At 31 March 2019

Reconciliation of carrying amount -
year ended 31 March 2020

At the beginning of the reporting period

Additions

Depreciation

At 31 March 2020

At 31 March 2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

At 31 March 2020
Cost

Accumulated depreciation

EEENEHE-BZE20195
3A31ALEE

P&

NE

e

#2019%3731H

BEEN R -8 ZF20205
3A31ALEE

R

"B

e

1202053 A31H
R201953A318

AR
REHE

R2020%3A31H
2%
e

12. ¥ -BERKXE

Leasehold Furniture and Office Motor

improvements fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HE#E HKRREE WARE AE @zt
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
231 93 69 3,519 3,912

- - 15 836 901
(54) (25) (23) (1,720) (1,822)

177 68 61 2,685 2,991

177 68 61 2,685 2,991

- - - 5,428 5,428
(53) (20) (24) (1,879) (1,976)

124 48 37 6,234 6,443

272 193 333 11,728 12,526
(95) (125) (272) (9,043) (9,535)

177 68 61 2,685 2,991

272 193 333 16,160 16,958
(148) (145) (296) (9,926) (10,515)

124 48 37 6,234 6,443
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRM:E

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203531 H 1 F/&

13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 13. FAREEREESE

The movements of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities BHE202053H31BILFEAN - AN R
within HKFRS 16 during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set ERABENEAREEREAEAGE

out below: EIERI &
Right-of- Lease
use assets liabilities
FERAEEE HEEE
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET

At beginning of the reporting period R EBRT—RAB B

— upon adoption of HKFRS 16 WMEERF 165 1% 1,064 (1,064)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CHREEENE (399) -
Imputed interest expenses on lease HERBBEZHENERX

liabilities = (44)
Lease payments HERK - 380
At end of the reporting period RE|EHR 665 (728)
At 31 March 2020 7202053 A31H
Current portion R EREE 5 = (414)
Non-current portion FERNERER > 665 (314)

665 (728)
The Group leases office premise for its daily operations with AEENEETHENRBNBEERERE
fixed lease payment term. Lease term is one year, with an WG MERRA—F TJREFERN
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. FIEGRBEEERLD -
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HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(Continued)

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

Operating lease payments

Expenses recognised in profit or loss

Lease payments on lease liabilities

Total cash outflow for leases

Extension and termination options

RiEas R MR X

HERBENEENK

The lease contract of office premise contains an extension and

termination option. These options aim to provide flexibility to

the Group in managing the leased asset. The extension option

is normally exercised because there are significant leasehold

improvements while the termination option is normally not

exercised. The Group seldom exercises options that were

not included in the lease liabilities. During the year ended

31 March 2020, total lease payments and optional lease

payments made amounted to approximately HK$260,000 and

HK$468,000 respectively.

13. EAEEEREESR (A)

FA-RNEE D HRATRIE:

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
- 402
- 402
380 =
380 402
R AR IR

MAENHEGHNPRETEHRKIEER
o ZEEEREEANSEIRHEETNME
EEEEEBEFN -AFREAHERE T
HIRERBTHTE MR IEEERE
BARBITE - AEBRIDITERTAEE
BIEMEIE - E2020F38318 I E -
ENHENREERREENRBES
B # %260,0007% 7T % 468,000/ JT ©
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GEMBHRRM:E

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203531 H 1 F/&

13.

14.

182

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Restrictions or covenants

The lease imposes a restriction that, unless approval is
obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use asset can only be
used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying asset. The Group is also required
to keep the property in a good state of repair and return the
property in its original condition at the end of the lease.

Commitments under leases
At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments amounted to approximately HK$240,000 under

non-cancellable operating leases, which are payable within
one year.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables g 5 EWFIE
From third parties KEBE=H

R

Less: Loss allowance

All the trade receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss

allowance for trade receivables is included in Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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13.

ERAREEREESR ()

HRENRS

AR E — AR - BIARLHEA#E &
REEEEAHAKEER BAKEN
SHEXBIFEBEE AR B TARE
A ERN RIFEERE WREER
7 1 1) S IR TR = R ST AR AE

MERE

20193318 » AEBETAREL S

FHET 2 HEHIEAERIBEARZEX)240,000
BT BR—FERI e

. ESEWFEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

56,334 37,624

(1,263) =

55,071 37,624

BHRA B SR WHIBFR —FARkE -

FEASBEEBNEERRXE S EKE
HBERENERNSENGE M HRERMN T
24



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Deposits we
Prepayments TAfTKIE
Other receivable H h fE R IR

All the other receivables are expected to be recovered
within one year, except for the deposits of approximately
HK$671,000 (2019: HK$671,000).

16. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables ESEARE
To third parties ERNE=7H

15. HiEWFRIE

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
799 671

421 348

23 12

1,243 1,031

TEERFT A H A U FRIE S R — FE R E
M 3% & 49671,000/8 7T (20194 : 671,000

FBTT)BRSM o

16. EZENFIE

2020
20204
HK$°000
FET

1,844

2019
20194
HK$'000
FEIT

7,018

BEERAR AT 20192020 £ 183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #( 2202043 531H 1 F/&

16.

17.

184

TRADE PAYABLES (Continued) 16. EZEBARIEA (&)
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade REBEHR HEZEHEINNEFER
payables based on the invoice date, is as follows: RIEMBRE ST :
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FHETT
Within 30 days 30K 1,838 6,997
31 to 60 days 31260k 6 18
61 to 90 days 61290k - 3
1,844 7,018
OTHER PAYABLES 17. Ef IR
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Accruals et E A 1,800 1,345
Deposits received BEliEe 21 21
Due to a director (Note) JERTESE (M:F) 72 =
1,893 1,366
Note: Amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and repayable Hiet - B —2EFHEAERER 2R RIREXK
on demand. FrEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

18. DEFERRED TAXATION 18. IEZERIE
The movement for the year in the Group's deferred tax AEEREMIBERENFANEEHOT

liabilities was as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the year RFEH) 416 433
Charge (credit) to profit or loss (Note 7) Az (5t A) (K7:27) 303 (17)
At the end of reporting period RS HIR 719 416
Recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities) at the end of the RBEHRCERNELETRIBEE (BE)
reporting period represent the following: 25T
Assets Liabilities
BE =L
2020 2019 2020 2019
20204 20194 20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET FHET
Depreciation allowance WEEE - - (749) (416)
Tax losses BIBER 30 _ - _
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)iEEF B E E (& &) 30 = (749) (416)
Offsetting H i (30) - 30 =
Net deferred tax liabilities BT &% - - (719) (416)
As at 31 March 2020, tax losses of approximately HK$ 184,000 20203 A318 - RIBRITHE  RES
(2019: Nil) arising in Hong Kong have no expiry date under = ER T IEE1849184,0007% 7T (20194
current tax legislation. ) EARE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203531 H 1 F/&

19. SHARE CAPITAL 19. R
Notes No. of shares HK$000
HtiE RO E FET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &R EH 160.01,& T £
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4H1H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised VA TE R ARG AN
share capital (a) 2,962,000,000 29,620
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3H31H 3,000,000,000 30,000
At 31 March 2020 7202063 H31H 3,000,000,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each #2/R E1B0.01& T 79
At 1 April 2018 201844818 1 -
Issue of shares pursuant to BIEEAZITRG
Reorganisation (b) 99 -
Capitalisation issue of shares f& 1 & AL 31T (c) 299,999,900 3,000
Issue of shares by share offer BAKRMNEBEERITRGD (d) 100,000,000 1,000
At 31 March 2019 R2019%F3H31H 400,000,000 4,000
At 31 March 2020 7A2020%3H31H 400,000,000 4,000
Notes: Wit -
(@)  Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s shareholder passed on (@ WEARRBRIEMN2018F12A11BBBR

11 December 2018, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$380,000 to HK$30,000,000 by the creation
of an additional 2,962,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each which rank
pari passu in all aspect with the existing shares.
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SRE 2 0 1B @1 R 2,962,000,000R% & AR E (&

0.0178 TRV R IR 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

19. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

On 29 November 2018, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company
allotted and issued 99 shares of HK$0.01 each to the shareholder
and the shares issued carry the same rights as all shares in issue and
the initial nil-paid share was credited as fully paid.

On 8 January 2019, the Company issued a total of 299,999,900
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to the shareholder representing the
Ultimate Controlling Party, Mr Law Ming Yik, credited as fully paid at
par by way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$2,999,999 standing
to the credit of the share premium account of the Company and the
shares issued carry the same rights as all shares in issue.

On 8 January 2019, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each pursuant to the Company'’s listing
on GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of share offer at HK$0.60
per share and the shares issued carry the same rights as all shares in
issue. The expenses attributable to issue of shares pursuant to the
share offer of approximately HK$11,190,000 were recognised in the
share premium account of the Company.

20. RESERVES

20(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par
value. Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Company'’s Articles of Association, it is distributable to
the Company’s shareholders provided that the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

19. BRA&R (£)

20.

wis: (&)

(b)

M2018F 11 H298 - EREMAN —&H &
AR [ AR R AL B R BT F AR A (E0.01/6
TCHYRRAD - AT BT AR5 A A B B 1T D
ZERSEF B YA AR HIES
Eo

R20195188H AR RFEH B AAE KD
HERMERSEAS 12,999,999 7T & A1k
i AR R AR R ) 77 B IR 3R 78 B s T R BT
£ $£299,999,900/% & AR EI1E0.01/% 7T B IR E
BEARZIERE K EmAR - M AT E TR () B
FIBEEHTRD =B RS-

M201951A8H - BEAR R Al & B R M &
ENHARBRAGEM ET AR BRI
0.607% 7T % 17 A #£100,000,0000% & A% (&
0.01B T EMAR MATRITROERER
BIIRDZEREEF - RBRMOBEEET
A% {7 & 1 B 2 4911,190,00058 JT A AN 2 & %
17 (B AR R o

(]

20(a) AR 1275 {E

Bt s B AR R EITIRM TSR
HFRBHEMENSD REMS
HEAVIEARRBHMERADA - &
ARBRBEXRBBETBENEN
R ERS - BB s E A 2k T A
NAIPIR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRM:E

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203531 H 1 F/&

20. RESERVES (Continued) 20. & (&)
20(b) Capital reserve 20(b) EAfEE
It represents the amount of the issued and paid-up share BEARRBREAREKAISENEER
capital of the entities now comprising the Group before BATKATHEETREHMRRAL
completion of the Reorganisation less consideration paid SRR EMATA RN EERERD
to acquire the relevant interests (if any) upon completion ERNRE(WE) -

of the Reorganisation.

21. OTHER CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 21. Htt R EREER
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing RMEFEMELENEEYHE
activities
The movements in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AEBRMEETHFAEENBEZSHNOT

activities are as follows:

Non-cash

changes

FREEE
At 1 April Net Interest At 31 March
2019 cash flow accrued 2020
H20195 REng 420205
4H1H T FESH FI S 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FEr

Year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020%3H31H
LHEE

Lease liabilities HEAE 1,064 (380) 44 728
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HEMBHRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

21. OTHER CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

Interest-bearing borrowings
Obligations under finance
leases

H£2019F3A31H
LHEE
SFEER

BhE TR E AR

21. B EREER (&)

At 1 April
2018
R2018%

METBMELENAEHR(Z)

Non-cash
changes
RS
Net Interest At 31 March
cash flow accrued 2019
20194
AA1R ReEREFHE  EAHE 3H31H

HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FE T FET
3,672 (3,672) - _
2,208 (2,208) — _
5,880 (5,880) — -
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22.

23.

190

BANKING FACILITY

At 31 March 2020, the Group had a banking facility of
HK$5,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000) granted by a financial
institution in Hong Kong. The banking facility is secured by
corporate guarantee issued by the Company.

At 31 March 2020, the Group had undrawn amount under the
banking facility of HK$5,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000).
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the
Group had the following transactions with related parties:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year were as follows:

Salaries and allowances and Fe R EEYF =

benefits in kind

Contributions to defined contribution A HFORIRETE 2 H 3K

retirement scheme

Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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22. IRITWME

MR202053A31H  AEBHBAEEFTS — X
S AR T AR 1T B E5,000,000/%8 7T
(20194F : 2,000,00058 7T ) ° $R 17 &L & LA

NAEEITH R R ERIE SR

R2020F3A31H AEERETRE T
B Ak 32 BX 3K 18 A5,000,0005% 7T (20194F :

2,000,000/ 7T) ©

23. BB ARS

BREEMBRREMMIREZRZ S,/

R

FTEEEASHEHMH

BRON RER REBEREB T A 71

RER EFREMETEEEKE & B

R
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
2,385 1,893
89 71
2,474 1,964

EEHME - PHBEREEFBHRER

BI7ES o
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Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 24, BEBEEBFEREER

POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of bank
balances and cash, other receivables and other payables. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and
maintain finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial instruments such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its business
activities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any
written risk management policies and guidelines. However,
the management generally adopts conservative strategies on
its risk management and limits the Group's exposure to these
risks to a minimum level as follows:

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net of
loss allowances, represents the Group's exposure to credit risk
without taking into account the value of any collateral held or
other credit enhancements.

Trade receivables

Management of the Group has a credit limit policy in place and
exposures to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. In
order to minimise credit risk, management of the Group has
established credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure appropriate actions are taken to recover
overdue debts.

$§IMIE%@Iﬂa%ﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ
T H UGB R A ENFIE - 25 e
ﬂlﬂmia%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁlﬁgL?
LEmRE - AEEREZEAMERT
B (B ZRYHEREZERNFIA) %
ﬁIﬂE&ﬁéﬁiﬁé@°

rEEeRITAMEANFEZRRAREE
RknEEeRR AEBEWETRNE
R E IR B EBUR KI5l - AT - BIE
B — Mot B A g B IR EUR PR S - I A%
AEERSNZFREREERE FHN
T

FERE

REEAMBRNRERN R EEREE
(BB EBEREBE KRAKRENEER
B2 M R E BT AR R M m sk A (E
ERENEE-

ESERZE

AEEEEEREEERBERR Iﬁz
%%%%x%@f (% - BEEE R REE

BE AEEEEECHEEERRE 5
E%M&E@%%&F"ﬁ%%mﬁ%ﬁ
B EEHER-
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24,

192

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. The default
risk of the industry in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. Credit quality of a
customer is assessed based on background search assessment
and individual credit limit which is mainly based on the Group's
own trading records.

The credit period granted to customers was ranging from 0 to
120 days. The ageing of gross trade receivables by invoice date

is as follows:

Within 30 days 30K A
31 to 60 days 31260k
61 to 90 days 61290k
Over 90 days B #BI0K

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

24, BRABEERERREE (&)

FERRE (&)

ESEWHE (&)

AEEAREERRCEEIBEREP
ZERFEETE - TP AIEENTEZE
HEBRITZEEERR BREEM -EP
MEREERESSASHEMEAER
BEETHE ZAEIEERAEES
SR HELEH -

BTYTEPZEEHARNFOE120K - K5
EHHZ3|ME FEKFIERNBRE DT
T

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
13,444 23,165
6,282 4,849
9,417 7,636
27,191 1,974
56,334 37,624
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GEMBHRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 24, HHEREEEEREEK (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 39% (2019: 56%) and 79%
(2019: 88%) of the total trade receivables were made up by
the Group's largest outstanding balance and the five largest
outstanding balances respectively.

The Group's customer base consists of a wide range of
clients and the trade receivables are categorised by common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss
allowance, if any, based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date and has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s estimate on
future economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year.

FERRE (&)

ESEWHE (&)

RIBERR BREZERFIELEBE+T L
39% (20194 :56% ) &79% (20194 :
88% ) DRI AAEE v AREBERK
AAREREEH WAKBEGFEEERR
SRR

AEBNFFPEHEZNEPEKR BEFME
W IER KRR D18 SR
REREFPRRA DR P 2 BIF0R
BN -ARBIRBEIL A EE SR
WHIRHBEBREEER RIESHE A H
MEEHENEEERERERES (1
B) WERBHBEESEBRERRIIE
AR - 30 B AT E 1 R R AE AR BR
Yo £ B st SR BRI ) OB AR - BROR B AR
£ B P {4 5T A E U SR IR TR HA 4R IR A ) AR 2R
RERRAZEHER -FRMBERMKE
RNRRIL EEE) -
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24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

194

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil

At the end of the reporting period, the Group recognised an
impairment loss of approximately HK$1,263,000 (2019: Nil)
on the trade receivables from sales of diesel oil. The movement

in the loss allowance for trade receivables from sales of diesel

oil during the year is summarised below:

At the beginning of the reporting period
Increase in allowance on the trade receivables
from sales of diesel oil

At the end of the reporting period

24, BRABEERERREE (&)

EERE (£)

EZERIE ()

XK 5 488 15 & 159 B 5 JE Wk R
RBEPRR AEERKESLMHEENE
2 e W R TR HE SRR (B 5 8 491,263,000/ 7T

(2019%F : &) - AFE KRB HFEENE
S ERUWERM BB R EE ST -

2020

20204

HK$000

FET

REREHH) _
RESHEER

B 5 e W SR IE R B 2 N 1,263

RIERE IR 1,263
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Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil (Continued)

As at 31 March 2020

Not past due

Within 30 days overdue

31 - 60 days overdue

61 — 90 days overdue
More than 90 days overdue

FERRE (&)

ESEWHE (&)

24, IXEREEEEREE (&)

X 50 5 & 49 B 5 EN OB (48

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
R202053A31H FAHELAR REAE HBERE GERE
HK$°000 HK$°000
FETT FETT
N8 A 0.5% 34,106 170 No f&
EHA30R A 1.5% 10,482 157 No &
B EA31ZE60K 3% 2,723 82 No f&
B EA6 190K 6% 2,157 129 No f&
8 B ER 3BI0K 15% 4,833 725 No f&
54,301 1,263
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24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 24, IEREEEEREE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) EBESEWKE (&)
Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil (Continued) K E S E B 5 EW I (&)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount  allowance impaired
As at 31 March 2019 M201953H31H EHIEAR  RELE HEEE SEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Not past due A 180 HA - 24,397 — No #&
Within 30 days overdue B HI30 R N 1% 4,126 - No %
31 - 60 days overdue #HEI31 £ 60K 2.5% 7,225 - No #&
61 — 90 days overdue B HI61 290K 5% 1,396 - No %
More than 90 days overdue I HAFAEI0K 10% 480 - No #&
37,624 -
Trade receivables from sales of steam coal K E B K E 1 B 5 E R
The management assesses that the life-time ECL for the ERETHRES NHEEENE S EUGK
trade receivables from sales of steam coal amounted to 82,033,000/ 7T (20194 : £ ) M1FEHATE
HK$2,033,000 (2019: Nil) to be insignificant, so no loss HEEBEBITITNER MERNITERER
allowance was recognised during the year. EER -
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables 720204 201963 A318 - N&E E I &
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. 8 5 I WK IR R (3
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24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 24, HHEREEEEREEK (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables

The Group considers that other receivables have low credit risk
based on the debtors’ strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default,
therefore, the credit risk associated with other receivables is
minimal. No loss allowance was recognised for both years.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Bank balances and cash

The credit risk on bank balances and cash is limited because
majority of the counterparties are financial institutions with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies and state-owned banks with good reputation. No
loss allowance was recognised for both years.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
borrowings and leases.

FERR (&)

AR H

AEERE ERNEKABEEENRET
HRaNBReREEERENARKE
H e YRR M E B R g MK Fit E A
FE YR IR B0 4B A 15 B B B AR 1K - PR fE 45 2
VEEREERE

FARMERFTRIOHBEBARRL EEE -

RITHBREE

R KED R 58 F 15 RERREEFH
BBLETSEETANSBBEREER
HEOBRART MRTERLRESHEE
e\ ez 7 R o P {8 6F 2 19 SR W SR B 1R 1 4

FARMMERBFTRIODRERNBRRLELE) -

REBEE AR

AEEEEEBNBRITERLEE &
BEeBEERBELIE MRl TE-
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24,

198

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of bank balances and cash as well as
adequate banking facilities to meet its operation needs at any
time.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period based on contractual
undiscounted payments is summarised below:

As at 31 March 2020 7202063 H31H
Trade payables B S ENIA
Other payables H h FE 5 KR
Lease liabilities HEAE

As at 31 March 2019 M2019%3H31H
Trade payables B 5 ENIA
Other payables H h FE N RRIE
Fair value

All financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at
amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2020 and 2019.
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24, BRABEERERREE (&)

RBESRERE (&)

AEBENERE EERERRITRAHN
MBESH R UHEREFTEEMNIRITE
P Ko 3R e 1 A B TE R O R TT BB DA BE B
mEHEEFTE-

ERBAORUBRNN AEERHFSTHR
MERBEIRBERMALLT

On demand
or less than 1to
1 year 2 years Total
BERE
ER—F —ZWFE et
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FEIT FET FEIT
1,844 - 1,844
1,893 - 1,893
440 320 760
4,177 320 4,497
7,018 - 7,018
1,366 - 1,366
8,384 - 8,384
AR

FrEemEE eMEEHY LEER2020
¢&2019¢3H31 B AFELESE K=
B & EEYEE
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Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203 A31H 1 F/&

25.

26.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted but not ~ FLUEEM % - K5 K& B
provided for in the consolidated financial 2 28 #4718 5 R R 4R & B 7%
statements in respect of acquisition of ~ FREREEHZ EARFA T

property, plant and equipment

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments, including payment
of dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from
equity owners or sale of assets to reduce debts. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

25. EXRKIE
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,817 1,940

26. EXREE

AEBERAEENBEEABRASBEARE
FECENE IR AEREES AGIEE
HoAEBEREEARNEBWELFAE
BIERAEZEBARSKRE REZER
AEWEBINE RS EEEARDER -
B £2020%F K2019F3A31B L F E
FEEE BURKIRF A EEE -
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

200

COMPANY

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Amount due from subsidiaries
Bank balances

Current liabilities
Other payables

Net current assets

NET ASSETS

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

FRBEE
RIE R BN RE

RBEE

JE UK Bt B X B R IR
RITHEER

REEE
H b & R

REBEEFE

EERME

27. AR B EARRF

Notes

HiiE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
39,471 18,681
65 21,102
39,536 39,783
19 18
39,517 39,765
39,517 39,765
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 27. XATBMBRRE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kz FETT FET
Capital and reserves BXR#E
Share capital IR 19 4,000 4,000
Reserves (G 27(a) 35,517 35,765
TOTAL EQUITY S 39,517 39,765
This statement of financial position was approved and NEF SRR R O N20205F6 240 EE =
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2020 SHERKERE WHTINEETREKE
and signed on its behalf by E
LAW Ming Yik LI Isaiah
EELE 254 hE
Director Director
= -
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EMBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2020 &t 220203531 H 1 F/&

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

202

COMPANY (Continued)

27. XA BB BEARRE (£)

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

27(a) Movement of reserves 21(a) REEE S
Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
IR 55 E ZItEE st
HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

(Note 20(a))

(K1a£20@))
At 1 April 2018 R20184F4F18 - - -

Loss and total comprehensive F & &8 & 2 H E 1B 4%

loss for the year - (9,045) (9,045)
Transactions with owners E2#EH AWK S
Contribution and distributions % & J 73 I
Capitalisation issue of shares P& {7 & AN{b 21T

(Note 19(c)) (K1a£19(c)) (3,000) — (3,000)
Issue of shares by share offer 3@ % 15 8 & 21T D

(Note 19(d) (K1a£19(d)) 59,000 — 59,000
Transaction costs attributable %77 R% {7 FE1G 22 5 B ZX

to issue of shares (H1:£19(d))

(Note 19(d)) (11,190) - (11,190)
Total transactions with owners B2 5 A HY32 5 4858 44,810 = 44,810
At 31 March 2019 and M2019F3A31H K

1 Apr 2019 20194 H1H 44,810 (9,045) 35,765
Loss and total comprehensive F & &8 & 2 HE B 4%

loss for the year - (248) (248)
At 31 March 2020 7A2020%E3H31H 44,810 (9,293) 35,517




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

2220203 H31H IF FZ

28. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 28. MEHEREE

In view of the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") in January 2020 in the PRC and rapidly spread
all over the world in the first half of year 2020, most of the
countries have taken nation-wide prevention and control
measures. The COVID-19 has certain impacts on the business
operation of the Group and the global economy in general.
The extent of such impacts depends on the duration of the
pandemic and the implementation of regulatory policies
and relevant protective measures. The Group would closely
monitor the development and status of the outbreak of the
COVID-19 and continue to assess its impacts on the financial
position and operating results of the Group and take necessary
actions to mitigate any potential impact brought by the
outbreak of COVID-19.

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the Group was unable to reliably estimate
the financial impact of the outbreak of COVID-19. The
management considers that there is no significant adverse
impact to the financial position and operation of the Group.

ER2020F1 A BIIE 20198 AR m SR
([COVID-19]) * WH2020F EHFEREK
RREE - KD BEREFHIRERH T
B HE o COVID-198f N B 75 2 B R 2Bk
B EEN TR E REVECEE
BURRRIE 2 HEREURMERZ EE
R RAEGEERE A EE R ER
COVID-19%& 15 2 B & RAR M - W FF 4 FT A4
HUEAKEPBRARKEEB I HE
AREENETE) - HECOVID-19& 1555
REVERBERE -

BEAGAVBHRRERERY A58
RBEFISEfAETCOVID-19RIEZ I & -
ERERLSEAREBNM BN MG LW
BEANHZE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULT

Revenue Y zs
Cost of sales HEKAR
Gross profit EM

Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive &% H,/ (B1B) R2HE

income/(loss) for the year Wiz /(iR ) e
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current asset ERBEE
Current assets MEBE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Current liabilities MEAE
Net current assets MEEEFE
Net assets BEFE

2016
20164

HK$'000
TET

193,935
(183,955)
9,980

5,051

2016
20165
HK$'000
T

5,263
8,845
2,930
6,884
1,961
4,294

The summary above does not from part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

No consolidated financial statement of the Group for the years

ended 31 March 2016 and 2017 have been published.

The financial information for the years ended 31 March 2016 and
2017 were extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated
21 December 2018. Such summary was prepared as if the current
structure of the Group had been in existence throughout these

financial years and is presented on the basis as set out in Note 2 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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4
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A31HILEE
2017 2018 2019 2020
20174 20184 2019 20205
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FET
387,369 443,436 474,236 351,113
(368,267) (420,961) (454,425) (338,464)
19,102 22,475 19,811 12,649
12,355 4,882 (179) 1,699
EEREE
As at 31 March
MW3A31H

2017 2018 2019 2020
20175 20184 20195 20205
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT TR
5,846 3,912 5,031 9,378
17,165 21,219 64,731 58,467
2,743 1,348 416 1,033
9,619 11,452 8,384 4,151
7,546 9,767 56,347 54,316
10,649 12,331 60,962 62,661

LR EREE LS A M SRR —BD

N2 B3 R P2 E E20164F K2017463 311
I FEZHEEPEEHRER -

B E2016F R2017F3A3IBLFE 2 HBEE
B A A QAR B A2018F12A21B ZBERE
BB ENEBEUAEBRTRERNZS
VRFEETFERE  WALRE SRR 512
FTElAEE 25
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